### COLUMBIA | SIPA Center on Global Energy Policy

# US CARBON TAX DESIGN: OPTIONS AND IMPLICATIONS

**BY JASON BORDOFF AND JOHN LARSEN JANUARY 2018** 

### **ABOUT THE CENTER ON GLOBAL ENERGY POLICY**

The Center on Global Energy Policy provides independent, balanced, data-driven analysis to help policymakers navigate the complex world of energy. We approach energy as an economic, security, and environmental concern. And we draw on the resources of a world-class institution, faculty with real-world experience, and a location in the world's finance and media capital.

Visit us at www.energypolicy.columbia.edu





### **ABOUT THE SCHOOL OF INTERNATIONAL AND PUBLIC AFFAIRS**

SIPA's mission is to empower people to serve the global public interest. Our goal is to foster economic growth, sustainable development, social progress, and democratic governance by educating public policy professionals, producing policy-related research, and conveying the results to the world. Based in New York City, with a student body that is 50 percent international and educational partners in cities around the world, SIPA is the most global of public policy schools.

For more information, please visit www.sipa.columbia.edu



# US CARBON TAX DESIGN: OPTIONS AND IMPLICATIONS

**BY JASON BORDOFF AND JOHN LARSEN JANUARY 2018** 



1255 Amsterdam Ave New York NY 10027

www.energypolicy.columbia.edu



### ACKNOWLEDGEMENTS

For helpful comments and discussion, the authors wish to thank Michael Gerrard, Kate Gordon, Geoff Heal, Trevor Houser, Noah Kaufman, Peter Marsters, Ron Minsk, Shashank Mohan, and two anonymous reviewers. The authors would also like to thank Matthew Robinson for his editorial assistance.

This policy paper represents the research and views of the authors. It does not necessarily represent the views of the Center on Global Energy Policy.

## **ABOUT THE AUTHORS**

**Jason Bordoff** is a former senior director on the staff of the National Security Council and special assistant to President Obama. He is now a professor of professional practice in international and public affairs and the founding director of the Center on Global Energy Policy at Columbia University's School of International and Public Affairs.

**John Larsen** is a Director in the Energy and Natural Resource practice at Rhodium Group (RHG) and leads the firm's US energy research. John is also a non-resident Senior Associate in the Energy and National Security Program at the Center for Strategic and International Studies. Previously, John worked for the US Department of Energy's Office of Energy Policy and Systems Analysis and led US federal and congressional policy analysis in the World Resources Institute's Climate and Energy Program.



### **TABLE OF CONTENTS**

PREFACE	6
EXECUTIVE SUMMARY	8
INTRODUCTION	10
BACKGROUND AND CONTEXT	13
The Economic Costs of Climate Change	13
Global and US Policy Progress to Date	13
CARBON TAX DESIGN ELEMENTS	18
Scope and Coverage	18
Which Fuels Are Subject to the Tax?	19
Which Sectors Are Subject to the Tax?	19
Which Gases Are Subject to the Tax?	20
Potential Exemptions to the Tax	23
Potential for Refundable Tax Credits in Certain Circumstances	23
Potential to Exempt Exports	24
Point of Taxation	25
Imported Energy and "Leakage"	27
The Relationship between Point of Taxation and Coverage	27
Tax Administration and Associated Infrastructure	28
Federal and State Excise and Severance Taxes	29
EPA's GHG Reporting Program	29
US Customs	29
Energy Information Administration Surveys	29
Monitoring and Verification Requirements	29
Tax Rate	30
The Pigouvian Approach	32
Translating the Tax Rate into Changes in Fuel Prices	32
Adjusting Rates to Meet Emissions Targets	33
Adjusting Rates to Meet Revenue Goals	33



REVENUE ALLOCATION OPTIONS	35
Refunds/Rebates	35
Tax Cuts	36
Climate Change Mitigation and Adaptation Investments	36
Transition Assistance	37
Spending on Other Policy Goals	38
Deficit Reduction	38
INTERACTION BETWEEN CARBON TAXES AND OTHER ENERGY/ ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES	40
Federal Regulations	41
Federal Research and Development on Energy Technologies	42
Federal Subsidies for Clean Energy	42
Federal Royalty, Bonus, Lease, and Tax Revenue from Fossil Fuel Production	43
State Regulations and Carbon Pricing Systems	44
State Revenue from Carbon Pricing Systems	45
INTERNATIONAL TRADE EFFECTS	46
The Cap-and-Trade Experience	46
Output-Based Rebating	46
Border Carbon Adjustment	46
Carbon Tax Design Decisions	46
Eligibility	47
Embedded GHG Calculations	47
Comparability/Reciprocity	47
GATT Consistency	48
DISTRIBUTIONAL CONSIDERATIONS	49
Income	49
Sectoral	49
Geographic	50
CONCLUSIONS	51
REFERENCES	52



## PREFACE

While there seem to be no immediate prospects for a national carbon tax in the United States, there is growing interest among some policymakers, thought leaders, and "elder statesmen" across the political spectrum. If and when a legislative opening emerges in the coming years, policymakers will need to grapple with a range of important design issues that will determine the effectiveness of a carbon tax in reducing carbon emissions.

The Center on Global Energy Policy (CGEP) at the School of International and Public Affairs (SIPA) of Columbia University has initiated a major research initiative to answer key questions related to the development of a carbon tax. In considering development of a tax, policymakers and stakeholders will need to understand, among other issues:

- The design options available (e.g., a carbon tax coupled with tax reductions elsewhere; with revenue spent on R&D or other clean energy programs; with revenue rebated to households; a sector specific tax [such as electricity or transportation] versus an economy-wide tax; or some other mechanism) and
- Their respective environmental, energy market, and economic impacts, including how a carbon tax would interact with existing energy, environmental, and tax policies at the state and national levels.

CGEP plans to address these key questions through a series of reports, public events, and meetings and briefings. CGEP's initiative will bring a unique, academic, and nonpartisan voice to the issue. Research will be presented using language that is clear for all stakeholders.

This scoping paper, the first in the initiative, outlines the key design options that policymakers will need to address in the design of a carbon tax. Additional papers in this series will include:

- Interaction between a carbon tax and existing policies
- Energy market and environmental impacts of a carbon tax
- Macroeconomic effects of a carbon tax
- Distributional effects of a carbon tax
- How a carbon tax might affect international competitiveness
- Transition assistance for communities affected by a carbon tax
- Synthesis report

Papers addressing the effects of a tax on the energy sector and the environment, and a tax's macroeconomic and distributional effects, will report the results of modeling undertaken by external quantitative research teams who are examining the effects of different tax scenarios.



Other papers will be authored by members of the Columbia University community in collaboration with outside experts.

CGEP is not making specific recommendations about the enactment of a tax or its design and is not advocating for any particular policy. CGEP strongly believes in the importance of bringing together unique perspectives to address the most pressing energy issues. The purpose of academic research is to promote the competition and comparison of ideas, as well as foster debate and disagreement. We hope this initiative, including this series of papers, helps inform public discussion about implementation of a carbon tax and the trade-offs that exist in its pursuit.



### **EXECUTIVE SUMMARY**

How does a society pay for the environmental and social costs of industrial and commercial activity? This question is front and center as nations work to address climate change across the globe. Economists broadly agree about the cost effectiveness of a market-based approach to reducing the emissions associated with climate change, with a carbon tax being one of the most popular of systems under consideration.

In the United States, opposition to any system that would address the costs of climate change—even one based on market principles—remains significant. Yet there has been a recent uptick in interest in a carbon tax, including from prominent members of both parties. The possibility of greater future legislative interest in a carbon tax means that a number of important policy design questions may need to be considered, and there has been considerable exploration of these questions to date by various research institutes and universities.

Building on this work, the Center on Global Energy Policy at Columbia University's School of International and Public Affairs is undertaking a research effort in collaboration with external partners to explore the range of issues that policymakers will need to understand, model the effects of different scenarios that policymakers may choose to consider, and produce insights that will inform the policymaking process. This Carbon Tax Design research initiative will serve as a resource for both stakeholders and policymakers through a series of papers, public events, workshops, and policymaker briefings about the key design choices and the implications of those choices in the implementation of a carbon tax.

This initial scoping paper lays out the set of issues to be addressed by identifying the key design choices to be made in implementing a carbon tax:

- Scope and Emissions Coverage: Determining which sectors and which gases are taxed and what amount of total US greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions would be covered by a tax is critical. The broader the scope, the more efficient and environmentally effective the tax, as it increases the number of GHG abatement opportunities.
- **Point of Taxation:** Carbon emissions can be taxed upstream, at the point of fuel production, downstream at the point of fuel consumption, or at points in between. An upstream approach taxes emissions from end-use sectors without having to track emissions and tax payments from millions of downstream emitters such as vehicles, factories, and buildings. A downstream approach taxes tons of CO<sub>2</sub> that enter the atmosphere at the point where they are emitted. Policymakers must weigh the desired scope of the tax, existing emissions and/or fuel reporting infrastructure, administrative efficiency, and politics in determining where to tax.
- **Tax Rate:** The combination of the tax rate and the total coverage of the program (as determined by the scope and point of taxation) is what ultimately determines revenue collection, environmental effectiveness, and energy market outcomes. However, there is no

guarantee that a carbon tax set at a particular price will guarantee the achievement of a particular emission reduction goal.

- **Revenue Allocation Options:** Large new sources of federal government revenue are not found frequently, and if a carbon tax is seriously considered, there will be an endless number of stakeholders arguing in favor of their preferred approach. This paper discusses six options for what to do with revenues achieved through a carbon tax, although more than one approach could be chosen. The limiting factor is ultimately the net revenue derived from the tax.
- Interaction between Carbon Taxes and Other Energy/Environmental Policies: Any carbon tax, especially one with an economy-wide scope, will interact with a range of existing energy and environmental policies. Federal regulations, federal research and development on energy technologies, federal subsidies for clean energy, federal royalty, bonus, lease, and tax revenue from fossil fuel production, state regulations and carbon pricing systems, and state revenue from carbon pricing systems should be taken into account in the design of any tax.
- International Trade Effects and Distributional Considerations: A carbon tax would affect US trade as well as the companies that engage in trade. Policymakers need to discuss how to reduce the risks to US exports that would be subject to a tax when competing against foreign firms not subject to a tax. Work is also needed to understand how a carbon tax would affect households at different income levels, affect different sectors of the economy, and different parts of the country.



# **INTRODUCTION**

In 1920 British economist Arthur Cecil Pigou published *The Economics of Welfare*, in which he argued that tax policy should be used to address those environmental or social costs of industrial or commercial activity that are not borne by the individuals or companies responsible, but instead by society as a whole.<sup>1</sup> Pigouvian taxes have since been used to address a range of "externalities," from the public health costs of tobacco and alcohol consumption to the impact of chlorofluorocarbons on the ozone layer. In 1973 economists and others in the academic community began advocating for a Pigouvian tax to internalize the costs that carbon dioxide and other greenhouse gas (GHG) emissions impose on human health and the economy by changing the earth's climate.<sup>2</sup> Over the next four decades, the idea has gained traction among economists but received relatively little attention from policymakers.

The Clinton Administration proposed a Pigouvian tax on energy consumption, but not GHG emissions, in 1993—though by excluding wind, solar, and geothermal, its proposal resembled a carbon tax.<sup>3</sup> Clinton's "BTU Tax" legislation passed the House but failed in the Senate.<sup>4</sup> Some moderate House Democrats blamed their subsequent loss in the 1994 midterm elections on their BTU tax vote,<sup>5</sup> and the experience left many politicians allergic to energy or environmental taxes of any kind.<sup>6</sup> As concern about climate change grew in the late 1990s and 2000s, elected officials increasingly looked to cap-and-trade systems, which had been pioneered by the President George H. W. Bush Administration and used successfully by the EPA to reduce other pollutants, as the preferred strategy for reducing GHG emissions.<sup>7</sup>

There is broad agreement among economists about the benefits of market based instruments as a cost effective strategy for reducing GHG emissions.<sup>8</sup> There is much disagreement, however, about the choice of instrument, with some economists preferring cap-and-trade<sup>9</sup> and others a carbon tax.<sup>10</sup> In theory, cap-and-trade offers certainty about the level of emissions abatement but uncertainty about cost, while a carbon tax offers certainty about cost but uncertainty about how much emission reductions a given carbon price will achieve.<sup>11</sup> In practice, there are many hybrid approaches and other differences.<sup>12</sup>

During the last two decades, a number of cap-and-trade bills have been introduced in the United States Congress, culminating in the American Clean Energy and Security Act, which passed the House in 2009.<sup>13</sup> Yet that legislation failed in the Senate, and once again a number of moderate House Democrats lost their seats in the subsequent midterm election, as Democrats lost their House majority.<sup>14</sup>

Following the defeat of legislative action, and in some cases as legally required by current statutes following the Environmental Protection Agency's finding that GHG emissions threaten public health,<sup>15</sup> President Obama sought to reduce GHG emissions using existing executive authorities under the Clean Air Act, the Energy Independence and Security Act, and other statutes.<sup>16</sup> Some of the more significant regulations promulgated by President Obama



included carbon dioxide emission standards for new and existing power plants,<sup>17</sup> methane emission (a highly potent GHG) standards for oil and gas production,<sup>18</sup> and fuel economy standards for both cars and trucks.<sup>19</sup>

At the state level, policymakers have also shied away from a carbon tax, opting for other policies to accelerate clean energy and reduce GHG emissions. Some have opted for a capand-trade mechanism to price GHG emissions, while others have adopted alternative polices using regulatory approaches and/or mandates. California, for example, adopted an economywide cap-and-trade program with the passage of Assembly Bill 32, the California Global Warming Solutions Act of 2006,<sup>20</sup> and also passed various additional regulatory mandates, such as a renewable portfolio standard (RPS) and a low-carbon fuel standard.<sup>21</sup> Nine states in New England and the mid-Atlantic participate in the Regional Greenhouse Gas Initiative (RGGI), a cap-and-trade program covering the power sector.<sup>22</sup> Twenty-nine states have RPS mandates,<sup>23</sup> and 26 states have energy efficiency resource standards (EERS).<sup>24</sup>

Outside the United States, a carbon tax has gained some momentum as a cost-effective tool to address climate change. British Columbia, for example, adopted a carbon tax nearly a decade ago and is planning to expand its scope of coverage and raise the level.<sup>25</sup> Chile's carbon tax comes into effect this year.<sup>26</sup> Still other countries have put a price on carbon through a cap-and-trade system. Most notably, China's cap-and-trade system, which has been tested in various provinces for several years, will expand to nationwide coverage in 2018.<sup>27</sup>

Over the past few years, the idea of a carbon tax in the United States has begun to attract attention outside the academic community and from across the political spectrum. In 2012 former South Carolina representative Bob Inglis launched the Energy and Enterprise Initiative, which presented a carbon tax as a conservative strategy for addressing climate change.<sup>28</sup>

In 2014 former Republican Treasury secretary Hank Paulson argued for a carbon tax in *The New York Times.*<sup>29</sup> In 2015 the Niskanen Center, a libertarian think tank, released a study making the "conservative case for a carbon tax."<sup>30</sup> Republican elder statesmen George Shultz and James Baker III did the same in a *Wall Street Journal* op-ed in February 2017.<sup>31</sup> A few months later in May, a group of conservative business leaders and former government officials launched the Alliance for Market Solutions, which also advocates a carbon tax.<sup>32</sup> And in June 2017 the Climate Leadership Council announced a group of founding members, including prominent businesses and senior Republicans, to support a carbon tax.<sup>33</sup>

On the other side of the aisle, Senator Bernie Sanders made a carbon tax a centerpiece of his 2016 presidential campaign.<sup>34</sup> Secretary Hillary Clinton explored a carbon tax before opting for a plan that did not require congressional legislation.<sup>35</sup> Reflecting these two views, the 2016 Democratic Party platform stated that "carbon dioxide, methane, and other greenhouse gases should be priced to reflect their negative externalities," but that "climate change is too important to wait for climate deniers and defeatists in Congress to start listening to science."<sup>36</sup> Several Democratic senators—including Sheldon Whitehouse, Brian Schatz, Bernie Sanders, and Barbara Boxer—have promoted a carbon tax in prior sessions of Congress, and in July 2017 Senators Whitehouse and Schatz reintroduced a bill establishing a carbon tax.<sup>37</sup>



As momentum builds for comprehensive tax reform, interest in a carbon tax has also grown from some who are motivated less by solving the problem of climate change than they are by finding sources of government revenue that impose less economic distortion than current taxes on capital and labor.<sup>38</sup> Both parties agree, for example, that corporate tax reform is needed, but there is no agreement on how, or even whether, to pay for a lower corporate tax rate. The tax cut just passed by Congress lowers the corporate tax rate, among other provisions, but without offsetting revenue the Joint Committee on Taxation estimated that the law will cost more than \$1 trillion over the next decade.<sup>39</sup>

While political opposition to a carbon tax remains significant, the recent uptick in interest and greater possibility of future legislative consideration have raised a number of important policy design questions. What level of a carbon tax would be required to achieve environmental and/ or revenue goals? What would be the impacts on energy prices and energy production? How would these impacts vary by household income and geography? What are the economic and distributional implications of different revenue uses? How would a carbon tax interact with existing energy, environmental, and tax policies at the federal, state, and local levels?

There has been considerable exploration of these questions to date by various research institutes and universities.<sup>40</sup> Building on this work, the Center on Global Energy Policy at Columbia University's School of International and Public Affairs has partnered with the Rhodium Group, with contributions from scholars at various think tanks and universities, to explore the range of issues that policymakers will need to understand, model the effects of different scenarios that policymakers may choose to consider, produce insights that will inform the policymaking process, and serve as a resource for both stakeholders and policymakers. The outcome of this Carbon Tax Design research initiative will be a series of papers, public events, workshops, and policymaker briefings about the key design choices and the implications of those choices in the implementation of a carbon tax.



### **BACKGROUND AND CONTEXT**

Since the late nineteenth century, the earth's average surface air temperature has increased by about two degrees Fahrenheit (figure 1).<sup>41</sup> While the climate is naturally variable, these increases transcend traditional annual, decadal, or even multidecadal variability.<sup>42</sup> Since Guy Stewart Callendar's pioneering work in the 1930s,<sup>43</sup> scientists have become increasingly convinced that human activity is affecting the earth's climate and that GHG emissions are the principal cause of the observed warming over the past hundred years.

Globally, carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) emissions from fossil fuel combustion and industrial processes are the largest source of GHG emissions, accounting for 65 percent of GHG emissions in 2010.<sup>44</sup> CO<sub>2</sub> is also emitted when plants decompose, and absorbed from the atmosphere when they grow. Accordingly, changes in land use and forestry are a major net contributor to global GHG emissions, accounting for 11 percent of the total in 2010.<sup>45</sup> Methane (CH4) emissions from oil and gas production, coal mines, agriculture, waste, and other sources accounted for 16 percent of global GHG emissions.<sup>46</sup> Nitrous oxide (N2O) emissions, primarily from agricultural activity, accounted for another 6 percent,<sup>47</sup> with the remaining GHG emissions comprising of hydrofluorocarbons (HFCs) and other "f-gases."<sup>48</sup> Between 1970 and 2012, annual global GHG emissions nearly doubled<sup>49</sup> (figure 1). Global concentrations of CO<sub>2</sub> now seasonally exceed 400 parts per million (ppm),<sup>50</sup> far above anything experienced in the last 800,000 years<sup>51</sup> and likely higher than any time over the past 3 million years.<sup>52</sup>

#### The Economic Costs of Climate Change

Changes in global temperatures due to human activity impose costs on human and economic systems, costs that are not borne directly by the companies and individuals that undertake the activity. Moreover, given that CO<sub>2</sub> stays in the atmosphere for decades, the cost of today's emissions are not borne exclusively by the current generation.<sup>53</sup> In their 2015 book *The American Climate Prospectus*, Houser et al. estimated that continuation of past emissions trends will likely cost the United States between 1.2 percent and 5.4 percent of GDP by late in this century based on just six impact categories (energy, mortality, labor productivity, coastal property, agricultural production, and crime), relative to a world without a changing climate.<sup>54</sup> Those impacts, however, are unevenly distributed geographically, with some states suffering more than others. In Florida, for example, a continuation of current emissions trends will likely cost the state between 10.1 percent and 24 percent of its economic output.<sup>55</sup> Other methodologies find even larger economic damages.<sup>56</sup>





Figure 1. Global temperature change and fossil fuel CO, emissions

The economic costs of climate change are even larger outside the United States, regardless of the methodology used. For example, at the upper end of the range, Burke, Hsiang, and Miguel find that a continuation of current emissions trends could reduce average global incomes by 23 percent by the end of the century, relative to a world without a changing climate.<sup>57</sup> Moreover, the poorest countries are most at risk. In their central scenario, Burke, Hsiang, and Miguel find that average income in the poorest 40 percent of countries declines by 75 percent by 2100 under a continuation of past emissions trends, relative to a world without climate change.<sup>58</sup> The disproportionate distribution of the economic effects of climate change has global implications, through trade, migration, conflict, and agricultural disruption, and creates additional risks for the United States.

#### **Global and US Policy Progress to Date**

The global effort to address climate change began in earnest with the negotiation of the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change (UNFCCC) at the Rio Earth Summit in 1992. Ratified by 196 countries plus the European Union, the UNFCCC has provided the



foundation for all subsequent international climate change negotiations.<sup>59</sup> This includes the Kyoto Protocol, signed in 1997, which included the first national commitments to reduce GHG.<sup>60</sup> However, only developed countries made commitments in the Kyoto Protocol to reduce emissions. The Protocol was never ratified by the United States. Earlier that year, the Senate voted 95-0 for the "Byrd-Hagel Resolution," insisting that the United States only participate in international climate agreements that included emission reduction commitments from developed and developing countries alike.<sup>61</sup>

After President Obama was elected in 2008, the United States led an international effort to develop a new architecture that included emission reduction pledges from both developed and developing countries. In the first iteration of this—the Copenhagen Accord negotiated in 2009—the United States pledged to reduce GHG emissions "in the range of" 17 percent below 2005 levels by 2020.<sup>62</sup> The Accord was not accepted by all parties to the UNFCCC, but 114 countries agreed to it, and more than 80 countries pledged some form of emission reduction.<sup>63</sup> In December 2015 all parties to the UNFCCC joined the United States in negotiating the landmark Paris Agreement, which includes emissions reduction commitments from 191 countries, accounting for 98.9 percent of global GHG emissions.<sup>64</sup> As part of the agreement, the United States committed to reducing emissions 26–28 percent below 2005 levels by 2025.<sup>65</sup> While national emission reduction commitments extended only to 2025 or 2030, the Paris Agreement included a goal of limiting global temperature increases to "well below" two degrees Celsius above preindustrial levels.<sup>66</sup>

Over the past eight years, the United States has made important progress toward meeting these commitments. Energy related CO<sub>2</sub> emissions in 2016 were 14 percent below 2005 levels, the lowest point in nearly 25 years.<sup>67</sup> Economy-wide GHG emissions were 11.5 percent below 2005 levels in 2015, and likely declined further in 2016.<sup>68</sup> A range of market and policy factors are responsible for this decline. After years of consistent growth, US electricity demand has been flat since 2007.<sup>69</sup> While the Great Recession played a significant role in flattening demand for electricity, new building codes, appliance standards, and federal, state, and local energy efficiency incentive programs have helped keep electricity demand flat while the economy has recovered.<sup>70</sup> Cars and trucks have become more efficient as well, driven by a combination of relatively high gasoline and diesel prices between 2011 and 2014 and new federal fuel economy and GHG emission standards.<sup>71</sup> The most dramatic changes have been in the electric power sector, where coal's market share has fallen from an average of 51 percent between 1949 and 2008 to just 30 percent in 2016 (figure 2).<sup>72</sup> A recent report from the Center on Global Energy Policy found that half of this decline was due to the shale boom and resulting decrease in the price of natural gas, which eroded coal's competitiveness in US electricity markets.<sup>73</sup> The remainder is primarily due to growth in renewable energy generation, particularly wind and solar.<sup>74</sup> Driven in large part by federal tax incentives and state renewable portfolio standards, US wind power generation increased more than threefold between 2008 and 2016.<sup>75</sup> Solar generation expanded more than fortyfold over the same period.<sup>76</sup>







Percent of generation

During his last few years in office, President Obama adopted or proposed a range of regulations aimed at further reducing GHG emissions in the view that a Republicancontrolled Congress was unlikely to cooperate in doing so through legislation. These regulations included limits on methane emissions from new and existing oil and gas production, new model building-energy codes and federal appliance standards, and CO<sub>2</sub> emissions limits on new and existing power plants.<sup>77</sup> In its last year in office, the Obama Administration negotiated a global agreement to accelerate the phaseout of hydrofluorocarbons,<sup>78</sup> and in its last few weeks in office, the Obama Administration finalized a "mid-term review" of the model year 2017-2025 GHG emission standards for cars and light trucks.<sup>79</sup> Even with all the policies put in place by the Obama Administration, however, the United States was still unlikely to meet its Paris Agreement climate targets without additional policy measures.<sup>80</sup>

Since taking office, the Trump Administration has either sought to roll back or called for a new review of many of President Obama's climate regulations.<sup>81</sup> One recent report estimated that under current federal and state policy (as of late May 2017), US GHG emissions will be between 13 and 23 percent below 2005 levels in 2025 depending on the rate of economic growth, developments in natural gas prices and renewable energy costs, and evolution in land use and forestry in the United States.<sup>82</sup> If operators of economically challenged nuclear





Figure 3. US net GHG emissions under current policy with energy and economic uncertainty

plants choose to shut them down, that will make it even more difficult to achieve US climate goals. That leaves the United States 3 to 13 percentage points short of its Paris Agreement target, let alone long term emission reduction levels consistent with the Paris Agreement's two degree goal.



### **CARBON TAX DESIGN ELEMENTS**

If the concept of a carbon tax attracts more serious attention in the future from politicians (as opposed to just former officials and academic economists), the specifics of the policy will matter. A carbon tax has the potential to have significant impacts on GHG emissions, the US economy and labor market, energy prices and investments, the US trade balance and budget deficit, corporate profitability, and income inequality. But the shape and magnitude of these impacts depend entirely on how the tax is designed.

This section considers three of the main questions that arise in carbon tax design. First, the scope and emissions coverage of the program: In other words, which sectors and gases are taxed and what amount of total US GHG emissions are covered by the program? Second, the point of taxation: Who is paying the tax to the government? Finally, what level should that tax rate be set at initially and over time? These three design elements are interrelated, and each presents a series of important trade-offs. In subsequent sections we discuss options for how the revenue generated by a carbon tax is used, how it interacts with other domestic energy and climate policies, and international trade effects that policymakers must consider.

#### **Scope and Coverage**

A carbon tax can cover a particular economic sector or apply to nearly the entire US energy system and even nonenergy consuming activities as well. In this context, the term "scope" means the range of emissions that are subject to the tax. Essentially, the carbon tax base is defined by total amount of GHG emissions subject to the tax at the point of taxation minus any exemptions/credits elsewhere in the economy. The broader the scope, the more efficient and environmentally effective the tax because it increases the number of GHG abatement opportunities.<sup>83</sup> This drives the pursuit of least cost emission reduction opportunities as firms and consumers adjust their energy preferences in response to changes in prices. Because sectors of the economy excluded from the scope of the tax will not make cost-effective emission reductions that the tax would have induced, narrowing the scope of the tax will reduce the number of abatement opportunities. Separate policy efforts could be pursued to drive emission reductions in nontaxed sectors, but by excluding them from an economy-wide carbon tax, it would be difficult to calibrate those policies so that they achieve the same level of efficiency as a carbon tax.

A broader scope also allows for more revenue generation at a given tax rate, or a lower tax rate to achieve the same revenue target. However, broadening the scope also expands the number of groups facing a new tax liability and thus could potentially increase political opposition to a tax.<sup>84</sup> In addition, the administrative burden associated with monitoring and verifying emissions reductions from certain sources may be sufficiently high that it does not make sense to make them subject to a carbon tax.

There are four important interrelated design questions that must be answered when establishing the scope of a carbon tax. (1) Which fuels are subject to the tax? (2) Which



sectors are subject to the tax? (3) Which gases are subject to the tax? (4) Are there exemptions to the tax or credits to offset the tax? The answers to these questions will be informed by politics as well as the technical and administrative limitations of measuring and reporting emissions and payment of the tax.

#### Which Fuels Are Subject to the Tax?

A threshold question is whether the tax applies to all coal, petroleum, natural gas, and derivative products consumed in the United States or to some subset of fuels? The question is important because if some fuels are not covered, the tax would almost certainly create an incentive to increase the use of the nontaxed fuels, allowing the consumer to avoid the tax. That would lower tax revenue and increase emissions. In most economy-wide carbon pricing programs in place today, as well as current legislative proposals for a carbon tax, nearly all fossil fuels and derivative products are covered.<sup>85</sup>

An important issue related to the question of which fuels to tax is how and whether to tax nonfossil fuels that also emit CO<sub>2</sub>, such as biomass-derived fuels, including ethanol and wood pellets. Taxing such fuels expands the opportunity to reduce emissions at a given carbon price but can also create administrative complexity because there is significant debate over the extent to which, if at all, these fuels lead to net decreases in atmospheric CO<sub>2</sub> on a life cycle basis.<sup>86</sup> In 2015 gross emissions from biomass were 291 million metric tons before considering any carbon sequestration from the cultivation of fuel feedstocks, representing 5 percent of all GHG emissions.<sup>87</sup> Excluding biofuels from the tax base narrows the scope of the tax and may simplify the politics of crafting the policy. However, it also runs the risk of substantially shifting energy consumption toward biofuels that may or may not provide a net climate change benefit. If biofuels are subject to the tax, policymakers would need to decide whether the tax should be applied at the same rate per ton as fossil fuels or at a lower rate to reflect the life cycle GHG emissions of the fuel relative to fossil fuels.<sup>88</sup> Biofuels derived from different feedstocks could be taxed at different rates if the latter approach is used. This could add complexity to the tax framework, and perhaps make it more difficult to administer, but would establish incentives to shift energy consumption to biofuels with lower life cycle GHG emissions.

#### Which Sectors are Subject to the Tax?

Once the fuels subject to the tax have been selected, policymakers would then need to identify which fuel-consuming sectors will be covered by the tax. The tax could be applied broadly to all economic sectors, such as industry, buildings, transportation, and electric power, or it could target a subset of them.

Sectoral scope varies across existing carbon pricing programs. Both California and British Columbia cover all major energy consuming sectors.<sup>89</sup> The Regional Greenhouse Gas Initiative (RGGI) program in the Northeast is an example of a carbon pricing program that applies to the power sector only.<sup>90</sup> Meanwhile, the European Union's cap-and-trade program covers electric power, most large industrial sectors, and domestic aviation but excludes emissions from buildings and all other modes of transportation.<sup>91</sup>





Figure 4. Fossil fuel CO, shares of total US GHG emissions by fuel and sector, 2015

Source: EPA, Rhodium Group analysis.

As discussed above, broadening the tax to cover all major energy consuming sectors increases the tax base, allowing for more revenue generation at a given tax rate. It also increases the environmental effectiveness of the program by minimizing leakage and providing consistent market signals to drive lower-carbon energy consumption. The more sectors included in the program, the greater the level of emission reductions that can be achieved at a given price, and the less it will cost to achieve any given level of emission reductions.

#### Which Gases Are Subject to the Tax?

Another key question is whether to apply the tax to fossil fuels only or more broadly. As figure 4 shows, 22 percent of US GHG emissions come from activities other than the combustion of fossil fuels.<sup>92</sup> These activities include  $CO_2$  emissions from industrial processes (other than combustion), methane emissions from energy production, agriculture and landfills, nitrous oxide emissions from agriculture and f-gases, man-made industrial gases primarily used as refrigerants (figure 5). Most existing carbon pricing programs cover  $CO_2$  from the combustion





Million metric tons CO2e



Source: EPA, Rhodium Group analysis.

of fossil fuel in covered sectors. British Columbia's carbon tax stops there,<sup>93</sup> while California and the EU cover process emissions from industry (non-combustion  $CO_2$ , methane, N<sub>2</sub>O, HFCs, and PFCs).<sup>94</sup>

Just as expanding application of the tax to all energy consuming sectors increases the economic efficiency, revenue generation, and environmental effectiveness of the tax, expanding the tax to cover some or most of these other gases outside of fossil fuel emissions will do the same. It will also increase the administrative complexity of the program.<sup>95</sup> In particular, methane from fossil fuel production along with the agriculture and waste sectors are largely untouched by a carbon tax applied only to fossil fuels. But the majority of emissions from these sectors could be taxed if the scope were expanded to cover all or most GHGs.

Emissions of some gases from certain activities can be challenging to measure and assign to a specific taxpayer. For example, nitrous oxide emissions from agricultural soils are a function of several factors, including soil type, crop choice, fertilizer application, and farming practices.<sup>96</sup>



While these emissions make up half of all emissions from agriculture,<sup>97</sup> measurement and attribution challenges may make it difficult to apply the tax from these activities. If policymakers also want to achieve emission reductions from nontaxed sectors and activities, they can consider developing alternative policies, such as incentives or regulations that may not have the same technical issues. Other activities are more amenable to taxation, such as process emissions from industrial activity where emissions can be measured using sensors at the smokestack.<sup>98</sup> The ability to expand the scope of the tax to cover multiple GHGs may reach technical limits but could still provide a greater number of abatement opportunities.

Expanding the scope of a carbon tax program to cover emissions other than fossil combustion CO<sub>2</sub> can increase tax revenue and environmental benefits, especially when considering that many of these GHGs, such as methane and HFCs, have an outsized radiative forcing impact in the near term.<sup>99</sup> In most instances, such emissions need to be taxed downstream since they generally aren't associated with an upstream feedstock like fossil fuels. For example, methane emissions from landfills would be measured at the landfill site and then taxed. An important exception to this general rule is HFC-23, an industrial gas used in refrigeration and other industrial and consumer products. Because it is a man-made GHG, it could be amenable to taxation at the point of production, much like fossil fuels. In addition, different GHGs have different potency relative to CO<sub>2</sub> measured as their global warming potential (GWP).<sup>100</sup> As such, the tax rate must be multiplied by the appropriate GWP for each ton of taxed gas to send the equivalent price signal seen elsewhere across the economy. When this is done, the potential for sticker shock by non-CO<sub>2</sub> GHG emitters is real given that the effective tax rate on methane or N<sub>2</sub>O would be 25 and 298 times larger respectively than that of CO<sub>2</sub> (depending on the time frame chosen to compare the different gases). What's more, the GWP values change over time to reflect the most recent science, and GWP values change if different time scales (20 years vs. 100 years) of radiative forcing are considered.<sup>101</sup> If non-CO<sub>2</sub> GHGs are to be taxed, program designers will need to decide which GWPs are most appropriate.

	GWP
GHG	
CO <sub>2</sub>	1
Methane	25
Nitrous Oxide	298
HFC-23	14,800
111 C 23	14,000

Table 1. GHGs and global warming potentials relative to CO<sub>2</sub>

Source: EPA. Note: 100-year GWPs from the IPCC's AR4 consistent with current international GHG accounting standards are presented here.



As with fossil  $CO_2$ , infrastructure needs to be in place to measure and report emissions. This is the case for most industrial process emissions as well as key sources of methane emissions such as coal, oil and gas production, and landfills. As discussed earlier, some sources are not readily amenable to taxation because of a lack of reporting infrastructure or challenges in accurately measuring emissions. Emissions from agriculture are the most structurally difficult to measure of any major sector, representing about 8 percent of US emissions in 2015, and they include  $N_2O$ emissions from fertilizer use and methane from livestock, among other sources.<sup>102</sup>

#### Potential Exemptions to the Tax

There may be GHG-emitting activities that are so small or technically challenging to tax that it may not be administratively practical to tax them. This issue becomes more relevant when considering taxation of non-fossil-fuel-combustion GHG emissions because most sources are diverse and decentralized and aren't easily taxed at specific points in their supply chains, as will be discussed further in the next section. As discussed above, emissions from agricultural soil may be too difficult to measure and tax, justifying their exemption from an emissions tax. But opening the door to exemptions creates challenges as well. Taxed entities will seek exemptions for their activities, even if there are no technical or administrative grounds for such exemptions. To the extent that exemptions are established, the tax base will shrink and revenue generation and environmental effectiveness will decrease. Political support for the tax could also decline, as was the case with President Clinton's BTU tax in the early 1990s<sup>103</sup>—even as its prospects may be boosted by the curbed opposition from exempted industries and sectors.

#### Potential for Refundable Tax Credits in Certain Circumstances

Beyond exemptions, there may be reasons to consider refundable tax credits to entities that use taxed fossil fuels in a way that does not result in GHG emissions and contribute to climate change or, depending on the design of the tax, results in the export of taxed fuels. Thus the type and number of entities where credits may be applicable will depend on where the point of taxation is placed. The next section further discusses the point of taxation. For example, the use of fossil fuels as feedstocks in the production of plastics and chemicals and the use of carbon capture and storage (CCS) technology at power plants to remove CO, from emission streams and permanently inject it underground are examples of fossil fuel-consuming activities that technically can lead to zero GHG emissions. While deployment of CCS remains small today, 12 percent of US oil demand is currently not combusted, used largely in the petrochemical sector to make plastics and other products.<sup>104</sup> Without a refundable tax credit for each ton of  $CO_2$  not emitted for such reasons, future CCS-equipped plants, for example, would have no incentive to pursue this emission reduction strategy. Feedstock producers would be forced to internalize the cost of the tax even though their actions create no GHG emissions. To provide a financial incentive for CO<sub>2</sub> storage facilities to prevent leaks, they too could be subject to paying the tax for any emissions that escape—although that, too, may be difficult to measure and administer.

Activities subject to carbon pricing through future international frameworks may also be deserving of tax credits. For example, international shipping and aviation could be candidates for such a provision if an upstream approach is used since emissions from both sectors are due to be controlled under international frameworks in the near future.<sup>105</sup>



Credit recipients need not be the same entities that pay the tax; they simply need to use, consume, or export a covered fuel that has already been taxed.

#### Potential to Exempt Exports

To prevent shifts in production and create a level playing field, a carbon tax imposed in the United States may also need to exempt exports, as well as apply to imports. That concern is mitigated, however, to the extent other countries have policies that price carbon similarly, creating complex questions about harmonization across borders as more and more countries adopt carbon prices.

Exempting exports is relatively straightforward for fossil fuel exports themselves. The United States has recently exported up to two million barrels per day of oil<sup>106</sup> and is set to become one of the largest exporters of natural gas within a few years.<sup>107</sup> It remains an exporter of coal, although the EIA projects that going forward exports will be relatively small.<sup>108</sup> Exemptions for the carbon content of exported carbon-intensive manufactured products raises complex administrability issues, as it can be challenging to calculate the embedded carbon in imports or exports. The decision about whether to exempt product exports represents a trade-off between the competitiveness of US industry and the environmental impact of the proposed tax. The issue of how to address industrial competitiveness concerns is addressed more fully later in this paper.



#### Figure 6. US energy carbon dioxide emissions, 2014

Source: Lawrence Livermore National Laboratory, 2015.



#### **Point of Taxation**

Identifying the point of taxation—that is, the specific point in the supply chain where the tax is levied—is a critical element in the design of a carbon tax. Selecting the point of taxation requires considering the desired scope of the tax, existing emissions and/or fuel reporting infrastructure, administrative efficiency, and politics.

Key to this discussion is the issue of administrative efficiency. Ideally, the point of taxation should be placed at the point(s) in the supply chain where the greatest share of emissions is covered, the fewest number of entities are subject to the tax, and no fuel is inadvertently taxed twice.<sup>109</sup> This minimizes the administrative resources required to levy and collect the tax. Given the complexity of the US economy and energy system, as depicted in figure 6 below, identifying the point of taxation is not a straightforward task. A well-designed tax would also avoid leaving significant sources of emissions untaxed, which could potentially undermine the environmental integrity of the program through domestic emissions leakage.

Carbon emissions can be taxed upstream at the point of fuel production, downstream at the point of fuel consumption, or at points in between. An upstream approach taxes fossil fuels at or near the point of production based on their carbon content. It is attractive because it covers emissions from end-use sectors without having to track emissions and tax payments from millions of downstream emitters such as vehicles, factories, and buildings. A downstream approach taxes tons of  $CO_2$  that enter the atmosphere at the point where they are emitted. Proponents of a downstream approach argue that the tax should be placed closest to the point of consumption because consumers (and their vehicles, buildings, power plants, and

Upst	Upstream Midstream		Downstream (Multiple Fuels)		
Facility Type	Number of facilities	Facility Type	Number of facilities	Facility Type	Number of facilities
Coal Mines	710	Oil Refineries	140	Electric Generating Units	10,280
Oil Wells*	545,520	Natural Gas Processing Plants	551	Aircraft/Highway Vehicles/Trains and Ships	269,636,682
Natural Gas Wells	555,364			Gas Stations	168,000
				Residential Buildings	69,700,000
				Commercial Buildings	2,933,000
				Manufacturing Facilities	116,661

 Table 2. Number of entities at select potential points of taxation

Source: EIA, DOT, Rhodium Group analysis. Note: Oil well count includes ~216,000 wells that also produce natural gas.



factories) are the actual emitters of GHGs, and a tax that is more salient to the consumer will elicit a greater response.<sup>110</sup> Moreover, given the current regulatory structure already in place to assess and collect excise taxes, including fuel taxes,<sup>111</sup> it may be easier to administer a carbon tax that is applied close to the actual point of consumption than to create upstream systems to administer the tax even if the tax is collected from more entities than an upstream tax. Upon review of leading current national carbon tax legislative proposals, it appears that most would place the point of taxation upstream.<sup>112</sup> However, the largest carbon pricing programs in place around the world use either a downstream or hybrid approach.<sup>113</sup>

Applying the tax upstream at the point of production or import could be attractive for its relative simplicity. There are, for example, only about 710 coal mines in the United States.<sup>114</sup> In contrast, applying the tax to over 1,100,000 oil and gas wells across the United States presents some challenges.<sup>115</sup> However, even though the number of wells is large, nearly all oil and gas producers have experience with paying taxes based on wellhead production given that nearly all of them are subject to state severance taxes.<sup>116</sup> An alternative could be to place the tax at the mine mouth for coal but place oil and gas taxation slightly downstream at the point where oil enters refineries and natural gas enters processing plants. There are only about 140 refineries and 551 gas processing plants in the United States.<sup>117</sup> While this framework would cover all petroleum emissions (so long as imported refined products are taxed at the border), 25 percent of US natural gas production is "pipeline ready," meaning that the gas produced from the wellhead is of sufficient quality to be injected directly into the pipeline system without processing, which would bypass the point of taxation. This could be addressed by taxing natural gas at the wellhead or as it passes through the roughly 1,300 local distribution companies (LDCs) that sell gas to consumers<sup>118</sup> (not shown in the table) and as it enters the thousands of factories and power plants that bypass LDCs and use natural gas delivered through interstate and intrastate pipelines. While this hybrid approach dramatically increases the number of taxed entities relative to taxing at the processing plant, the infrastructure for tracking LDC natural gas sales and from large facilities is already in place and may lead to lower administrative costs than placing the tax at the processor level.<sup>119</sup> Indeed, this is the approach to covering natural gas that is currently used in California's carbon pricing program.<sup>120</sup>

Alternatively, applying the tax completely downstream at all points of emissions may be possible but administratively difficult and costly. Requiring every person and business to pay for the CO<sub>2</sub> emitted by the tens of millions of buildings and hundreds of millions of vehicles in the United States is impractical and technically difficult.<sup>121</sup> Still it is possible to apply a carbon tax at or close to the final point of sale based on the carbon content of fuel. This approach would look similar to the current federal excise tax on motor fuels but applied more broadly to cover all fossil fuel products.<sup>122</sup> A hybrid approach could be used where large stationary emitters (such as factories, refineries, and power plants) are taxed directly at the smokestack, while fuels used in vehicles and buildings are taxed close to the final point of sale. Additional administrative infrastructure may be required to implement this approach. When taking a downstream approach, it is possible that some emissions that occur along fossil fuel supply chains may not be covered by the tax unless they are explicitly identified as taxpayers. This could apply to emissions from sources such as pipelines, natural gas processing plants, refineries, and fuel used to power oil and gas wells.



#### Passing Costs through to Consumers

No matter where in the US energy system the tax is applied, firms will attempt to pass these costs through to consumers in the form of higher energy prices. We see this today across energy markets. For example, when global oil prices go up, refiners and retailers pass those costs on to consumers in the form of higher gasoline and diesel prices.<sup>123</sup> Demand for fuel then adjusts in the medium term in response to price changes.<sup>124</sup> Reduced demand can lower the profits of companies and increases incentives to produce and sell lower-carbon forms of energy. Even where energy firms are unable to pass through all of the carbon tax, there will still be a reduction in profits and an incentive to sell lower-carbon energy to make up the difference. An efficient carbon tax should enable pass-through of the cost of the carbon tax, as that price signal would not only give producers an incentive to reduce the carbon intensity of their goods to increase competitiveness, but would also provide consumers with an incentive to curb consumption and the carbon intensity of their consumption. In short, the environmental benefits of a carbon tax will be maximized if the price signal can be passed through to consumers.

#### Imported Energy and "Leakage"

Separately, 26 percent of the primary energy consumed in the United States is imported.<sup>125</sup> To avoid leakage and an associated competitive advantage to overseas energy producers, it is important to tax imported fossil fuels if they are not otherwise covered in the tax framework. Doing so levels the playing field and avoids any potential increase in import dependence solely due to a carbon tax. If an upstream point of taxation is used, then the most likely place to tax imported fuels is at their point of entry into the United States because the number of points is relatively small, and US Customs and Border Protection tracks imports in order to collect duties. If a carbon tax is assessed downstream, it is unnecessary to tax imports.

#### The Relationship between Point of Taxation and Coverage

The approach to exemptions from the tax and refundable tax credits will vary depending on the point of taxation. If an upstream approach is used, then tax credits will be required to compensate fossil fuel exporters and nonemissive uses of fossil fuels, because the tax is applied before it reaches these consumers. If a downstream approach is used, then exporters won't require credits, and nonemissive uses of fuels won't result in taxable emissions.

With this in mind, expansion of the tax to cover non-fossil-fuel-combustion emissions would be relatively straightforward for large stationary source emitters and producers of industrial gases. These sources include industrial facilities, fossil fuel production, landfills, cement producers, and HFC-23 producers. If a downstream approach is already being used for fossil fuel combustion  $CO_2$  emissions, many sources may already be subject to the tax and the tax could be applied to all GHGs emitted from the facility.



Table 3. Comparison of po	ssible frameworks	for point of taxation
---------------------------	-------------------	-----------------------

Point of Taxation	Share of 2015 US emissions covered	Pros	Cons
Power plants at point of emissions	~30%	<ul> <li>Existing reporting infrastructure</li> <li>Tax entities familiar with emissions pricing</li> </ul>	<ul> <li>Low coverage</li> <li>Potential leakage to end-use sectors</li> </ul>
All fossil fuels at point of production/refining (for oil) and import	~79%	<ul> <li>Broader coverage</li> <li>Prevents leakage</li> <li>between sectors</li> </ul>	More complex reporting     infrastructure
All fossil fuels at point of production/refining and import plus large stationary noncombustion CO <sub>2</sub> and other GHGs	~86%	<ul> <li>Broadest coverage</li> <li>Prevents leakage between sectors</li> <li>Covers some high GWP emissions</li> </ul>	Most complex reporting infrastructure

Source: RHG analysis of EPA data.<sup>126</sup> Note: All coverage estimates do not include any potentially applicable tax credits for nonemissive uses, though fossil fuel exports are accounted for.

Estimates of total emissions coverage that would be achieved under three points of taxation approaches are presented in table 3. Under a power sector CO<sub>2</sub>-only approach, 29 percent of 2015 US emissions would be covered. If all fossil fuels are covered at the point of production, refining (for oil), and importation, then coverage increases to 79 percent of 2015 emissions. Emissions from agriculture, waste, energy production, and industrial processes would not be taxed. Finally, if the approach to cover all fossil fuels is expanded to include large stationary source emissions of other GHGs, coverage expands to 86 percent of 2015 emissions. In this example, agriculture and small stationary source emitters would not be subject to the tax. Each expansion of coverage increases the complexity of the taxation regime due to the issues discussed earlier. However, greater coverage provides a much larger tax base from which to generate revenue and creates more opportunities to reduce GHG emissions for less than the price of the carbon tax.

#### **Tax Administration and Associated Infrastructure**

Given the focus on a federal carbon tax, we assume that the Internal Revenue Service (IRS) would be charged with administration of the program. While this is a logical choice, arguments could be made for other agencies to administer the program, such as the EPA or Department of Energy given their expertise in energy and GHG emissions. Assuming the IRS



is administrating the tax, the agency will certainly need to incorporate data or infrastructure from other federal, and possibly state, sources into its tax guidance in order to implement the program.

The importance of robust and reliable reporting and tax payment infrastructure cannot be overstated in the context of a carbon tax. First and foremost, accurate reporting is required to prevent fraud, which undermines faith in the program and its effectiveness, and also reduces revenue. Almost as important is the need to make calculation and payment of the tax as streamlined and as simple as possible to reduce political opposition to what is effectively a new regulatory requirement on businesses, and to minimize the cost of administering the program. There are a number of existing frameworks that could be used on their own or in combination to support the administration of a carbon tax.

#### Federal and State Excise and Severance Taxes

Federal excise taxes on motor fuels, oil, and coal, along with the infrastructure for accounting and payment of these taxes, have been in place for decades.<sup>127</sup> This infrastructure that is used to collect federal excise taxes, which are reported to the IRS on IRS Form 720, could be leveraged to assess all emissions from fossil fuel combustion, with modest modifications.<sup>128</sup> In addition, nearly every energy-producing state applies severance taxes on fossil fuels at the point of production (e.g., the mine mouth or the wellhead).<sup>129</sup> A federal carbon tax could leverage this existing infrastructure if the point of taxation is placed at the point of production.

#### EPA's GHG Reporting Program

Another promising "one-stop shop" for emissions data by entity is EPA's Greenhouse Gas Reporting Program (GHGRP). This mandatory program tracks annual GHG emissions from 8,000 reporting entities in 41 industry categories.<sup>130</sup> All data are reported electronically using standardized methodologies and are then verified by EPA. Between GHGRP reporting by emitters and by fuel suppliers, up to 90 percent of US GHG emissions are accounted for by the program.<sup>131</sup> The IRS could leverage this platform for quantifying tax liabilities of each entity covered under the point of taxation, especially if a downstream approach is used for large emitters.

#### **US Customs**

US Customs tracks imports and exports of all products in the United States, including fossil fuels, at points of entry and exit.<sup>132</sup> These data and reporting infrastructure would be helpful in applying a carbon tax on imports and tax credits on exports if not already accounted for elsewhere—although a lot more data would be needed to estimate the carbon intensity of imports, especially for goods other than fossil fuels.



#### **Energy Information Administration Surveys**

The Energy Information Administration (EIA) conducts dozens of statistical data surveys on energy production, transportation, and consumption at weekly, monthly, and annual intervals.<sup>133</sup> Typically, the identities of reporting energy producers are kept confidential to protect sensitive information. If identification information could be shared with the IRS, then EIA's data infrastructure could present another option for tracking carbon tax liabilities, depending on the point of taxation.

#### Monitoring and Verification Requirements

Just as with income and other forms of taxation, mechanisms must be in place to make sure that taxpayers are following the rules. Some carbon pricing and emissions reporting programs require third-party verification of data and some level of government oversight.<sup>134</sup> This is similar to the use of tax accountant services in current taxation frameworks where the third-party entities sign off on the integrity of reporting and tax payment. In addition, the IRS could audit taxpayers to provide an additional check on the integrity of the program.

#### **Tax Rate**

Determining the level of the carbon tax, or tax rate, is one of the most important questions in any carbon tax program design. It's also one of the more controversial components given that it becomes the "top line" number stakeholders use to assess environmental effectiveness and economic and market impact. In reality, the combination of the tax rate and the other key design decisions described in this paper is what ultimately determines revenue collection, environmental effectiveness, and energy market outcomes.

As noted at the outset, this is very different than a cap-and-trade program, in which an allowable emission quantity is defined (the cap) and the emissions price required to meet that cap is uncertain (although it can be estimated with energy system models). With a carbon tax, the price is defined explicitly, but the resulting effect on overall emissions is unknown (though it too can be estimated with energy system models). In selecting a carbon tax over a cap-and-trade program, policymakers are trading emissions certainty for price certainty.<sup>135</sup> This trade-off can be mitigated with hybrid approaches, such as a cap-and-trade system that has a minimum and maximum allowance price, or a carbon tax that automatically adjusts over time depending on what actual emission reductions are achieved after the program is in place.<sup>136</sup>

#### The Pigouvian Approach

In theory, the appropriate tax rate depends on the objective policymakers implementing the tax are seeking to achieve. For example, if policymakers are imposing a tax in a purely Pigouvian manner—to internalize the economic costs of GHG emissions in individual and firm decision-making—they may use the social cost of carbon (SCC) as a point of reference. The SCC is the estimate of the societal cost (measured as a reduction in welfare) of an additional ton of GHGs emitted into the atmosphere in a given year. Under the Pigouvian approach, the





Figure 7. Social cost of carbon range 2017-2030

2017 USD/Metric Ton CO<sub>2</sub>

Source: IWG 2016, Rhodium Group analysis.

SCC is internalized to all consumers and firms throughout the economy. If it is cheaper than the social cost to abate a ton of  $CO_2$ , then it makes sense to do so. If the cost of abatement exceeds the social cost of carbon, then under this view, it is preferable to emit. The Obama Administration formed an Interagency Working Group (IWG) to draw on available climate science and economic research to estimate the SCC for use in agency regulations effecting GHG emissions. In their most recent report, the IWG's central estimate of the SCC was \$45 per metric ton of  $CO_2$  in 2017, rising at 2 percent per year, adjusted for inflation.<sup>137</sup> In this report, we consider the range of SCC estimates published by the IWG to establish a spectrum of possible carbon tax rates (figure 7).

There remains considerable uncertainty around the right value for the SCC.<sup>138</sup> This includes uncertainty regarding how much a given level of  $CO_2$  in the atmosphere will increase global temperatures, how much harm that amount of warming will cause, the existence of tipping points in the earth's system where warming accelerated dramatically beyond a certain threshold even when GHG emissions were reduced, and how to discount the value of future harm in today's dollars.<sup>139</sup>



			Illustrative Tax rates (\$/metric ton CO <sub>2</sub> )						
		Units	5 year Iow	5 year high	Difference	\$14	\$50	\$73	\$145
	Bituminous		\$54.80	\$74.15	\$19.35	\$32.97	\$115.40	\$170.35	\$337.95
Coal	Subbituminous	\$/short ton	\$33.24	\$38.55	\$5.31	\$23.70	\$82.94	\$122.44	\$242.91
	Lignite		\$21.15	\$27.53	\$6.38	\$19.39	\$67.86	\$100.18	\$198.74
	Crude Oil	\$/bbl	\$31.24	\$111.92	\$80.68	\$6.11	\$21.40	\$31.59	\$62.66
	Gasoline	- \$/gallon	\$1.93	\$4.15	\$2.22	\$0.12	\$0.44	\$0.64	\$1.27
	Diesel/ heating oil		\$2.06	\$4.37	\$2.31	\$0.14	\$0.51	\$0.75	\$1.48
	Jet fuel		\$0.96	\$3.38	\$2.43	\$0.14	\$0.48	\$0.71	\$1.42
	Propane		\$1.98	\$3.84	\$1.86	\$0.08	\$0.28	\$0.41	\$0.81
Ν	atural Gas	\$/MMBtu	\$2.29	\$7.65	\$5.37	\$0.75	\$2.63	\$3.88	\$7.70

Table 4. Recent fuel prices, SCC derived tax rates, and resulting fuel-specific tax rates in 2020 and 2017 USD

Source: The Climate Registry, Interagency Working Group, Energy Information Administration, Rhodium Group analysis. Note: Coal prices are national average price of fuel delivered to the power sector. Petroleum and natural gas prices are economy-wide national average delivered prices.

In early 2017, the National Academies of Sciences issued a report calling on the federal government to update the SCC to reflect the best available science.<sup>140</sup> However, in a March 28, 2017, Executive Order, President Trump instructed agencies to revert to older White House guidance to calculate the SCC.<sup>141</sup> In its revised estimates, the Trump Administration estimated the SCC to be between one and six dollars per ton.<sup>142</sup>

#### Translating the Tax Rate into Changes in Fuel Prices

A carbon tax is applied to fossil fuels based on the carbon content of each fuel. Table 4 shows the fuel-specific tax rates for select commonly used fuels in 2020. With the exception of coal, the most carbon-intensive fossil fuel, fuel-specific tax rates under the SCC estimate of \$73/ton or lower are within the range of interannual market price fluctuations—as measured looking at five-year changes in fuel prices.<sup>143</sup>

The actual impact on fossil fuel prices due to a carbon tax is determined not just by the tax rate but the shifts in supply and demand for all fossil fuels in response to the tax. Future papers in this series will examine this question.



#### Adjusting Rates to Meet Emissions Targets

There is no guarantee that a carbon tax set at the SCC will achieve a given level of emission reductions. As discussed above, the purely Pigouvian answer to this question would be that it does not matter. If you set the marginal price equal to the marginal cost of a ton of GHG, then the market will decide the optimal level of emission reductions. This view, however, presupposes that the tax is applied globally and assumes a high degree of accuracy in the estimate of the SCC.

Alternatively, the level of a carbon tax can be adjusted more frequently to achieve a given level of emission reduction. In this way, the carbon tax acts more similarly to how a cap-and-trade system might operate, providing quantity rather than price certainty. Such an approach may have benefits in international climate negotiations where nations have agreed to meet certain abatement targets, individually and collectively.<sup>144</sup>

With this in mind, carbon taxes with starting rates and annual increases that are different from the SCC could be seen as reasonable options for a US program. Available energy system modeling provides a range of estimates of the carbon tax rate necessary to achieve the Paris Agreement target of a 26 to 28 percent reduction from 2005 levels in 2025. For example, one analysis found that when applied to all US fossil fuels, three different carbon tax rates could achieve the targets: \$21/ton in 2017 with no real (inflation adjusted) increase; \$17 increasing at a real rate of 3 percent; and \$13.5 rising at a real rate of 6 percent.<sup>145</sup> In its 2016 Annual Energy Outlook, the EIA analyzed a scenario where a carbon tax on all fossil fuels started at \$0/ton in 2017 and increased linearly to \$35/ton in 2023 and then at a real rate of 5 percent to reach \$80/ton in 2040. In this scenario, energy  $CO_2$  emissions in 2025 were 30 percent below 2005 levels, a sufficient reduction to put the United States in the range of the Paris target.<sup>146</sup>

There is relatively little understanding, however, of what level of carbon tax would be required to reduce emissions by more than 80 percent below 2005 levels by 2050 or to achieve interim targets in 2030 and 2040. This is one of the core questions that this research effort will explore.<sup>147</sup> Yet even with the best available modeling in hand, policymakers concerned with meeting specific emission reduction targets will likely need to include some kind of periodic adjustment mechanism so the tax can be increased or decreased in light of actual emissions trends.

#### Adjusting Rates to Meet Revenue Goals

A carbon tax program driven primarily by a desire to create revenue to meet a new spending or tax cut goal could result in a very different tax rate (and scope) than a tax designed primarily to either internalize the cost of GHG emissions or achieve a specific emission reduction target. Introducing a carbon tax as a means of raising revenue to reduce the deficit or offset the cost of reducing other, more economically distorting taxes, such as taxes on labor and income, may be quite desirable politically. Yet a tax rate driven by revenue rather than environmental considerations has potential downsides too. First, the revenue gains are uncertain, as it is not possible to know in advance how consumers will respond to the carbon price. Second, the calculation of what tax is needed for a given amount of revenue must



consider that the revenue from an indirect tax, like a carbon tax, is likely to be offset in part (the US government assumes by 25 percent) by a reduction in other government revenue.<sup>148</sup> Third, the optimal tax rate and pace of escalation from an environmental standpoint may be quite different than the optimal tax rate from a revenue standpoint.

Recent analyses by the Congressional Budget Office (CBO) and the Department of the Treasury suggest that 10-year cumulative net revenue from a carbon tax on all fossil fuels plus some large stationary sources of nonfossil CO<sub>2</sub> GHGs could be in the range of \$977 billion to \$2.2 trillion inclusive of the revenue offset.<sup>149</sup> These are substantial sums in the context of a \$3.65 trillion annual FY2017 federal budget. The difference between the two ranges is largely due to different assumed tax rates. CBO assumed a tax rate of \$25/ton rising at a real rate of 2 percent per year,<sup>150</sup> while the Treasury assumed a much higher tax rate that closely follows the central estimate for the SCC of \$49/ton rising at a real rate of 2 percent per year (table 5).<sup>151</sup> Illustrating the uncertainty in emission reductions and tax revenue associated with a carbon tax, the Treasury analysis considered an additional scenario where the scope and rate of the tax is held constant but emissions decline further in response to the tax due to rapid technological progress. The result is lower emissions and a cumulative net revenue estimate of \$1.6 trillion.<sup>152</sup>

Analysis	Tax rate	5 years 10 years	
		Cumulative net re	evenue (\$ billions)
СВО	\$25/ton rising at 2 percent real starting in 2017	\$437	\$977
Treasury (main scenario)	\$49/ton rising at 2 percent real starting in 2019	\$1,050	\$2,219
Treasury (rapid tech. progress scenario)	\$49/ton rising at 2 percent real starting in 2019	\$875	\$1,636

Table 5. Recent federal	government carbon	tax revenue estimates

Source: CBO, the Treasury.


## **REVENUE ALLOCATION OPTIONS**

Arguably, the most contentious issue in designing a carbon tax—other than whether to pursue the policy in the first place—is what to do with the revenue it generates. Large, new sources of federal government revenue are not found frequently, and if a carbon tax is seriously considered, there will be an endless number of stakeholders arguing in favor of their preferred approaches.

This section organizes potential revenue allocation options into six main categories and raises important considerations for each:

- *Refunds and rebates:* carbon tax revenue can be rebated directly to taxpayers, either on a lump-sum basis or tailored to their individual tax burdens.
- *Tax cuts:* revenue can be used to reduce other federal taxes, such as payroll or corporate income taxes.
- *Mitigation and adaptation investments:* revenue can be spent on programs aimed at climate change mitigation or adaptation.
- *Adjustment assistance:* revenue can be targeted at firms and industries adversely affected by addressing climate change, like coal communities.
- Spending on other policy goals: revenue can be considered for general use, as is most revenue and used for spending on other federal programs through the normal budgeting process.
- *Deficit reduction:* revenue can be used to reduce the federal deficit and thus the amount of money the US government has to borrow annually to fund existing spending priorities and appropriations.

More than one approach to revenue allocation can be chosen in the design of a carbon tax program. Ultimately, the limiting factor is the net revenue derived from the tax. While combinations of these options are certainly likely in an actual policy debate, we discuss them individually here.

#### **Refunds and Rebates**

Secretaries Shultz and Baker recently coauthored a report from the Climate Leadership Council that argued for refunding all carbon tax revenue directly to taxpayers.<sup>153</sup> This revenue use has attracted other Republican thought leaders in the past who are concerned about a new source of revenue being used to expand federal government spending.<sup>154</sup> This approach also represents one way to reduce the burden a carbon tax places on consumers, and particularly on low-income households that cannot afford an increase in energy expenditures.<sup>155</sup> Rebates can be made on a lump-sum basis, where everyone receives the



same amount, or can be returned proportionate to the estimated impact of the tax. What is important is that the dividend is calculated independently of the taxpayer's consumption of fossil fuels and other goods and services. Otherwise, the price signal generated by the carbon tax may not get fully passed through to consumers.

A key consideration with a rebate/refund approach is the means of distribution. If offered as a typical tax credit, only Americans that exceed the standard deduction and have a tax liability to offset will receive a refund. If offered as a refundable tax credit, anyone who files a tax return would qualify, though that still does not include all Americans, such as some retirees, children, and others who don't file tax returns. A third option is for the federal government to issue a check similar to Social Security payments to each citizen, resident, or household. Another important consideration is whether carbon tax revenue is considered general revenue or is treated as an entitlement, like Social Security or Medicare. The latter may provide a higher degree of confidence among voters that carbon tax revenue collected will ultimately be returned, while the former allows policymakers more discretion in how to use the revenue.<sup>156</sup>

### Tax Cuts

Economists have long argued that an efficient tax system can optimize investment and consumption and lead to better overall welfare and greater economic growth.<sup>157</sup> A key consideration in an efficient tax system is removing taxes on the activities that benefit society, such as capital and labor, and applying taxes to the things that do not benefit society. Internalizing the external costs of GHG emissions through a carbon tax presents an opportunity for a tax swap where the government taxes something that does not benefit society and generates revenue that could be used to reduce taxes on activities that do.

There are three types of distortionary taxes that are often highlighted as candidates for a carbon tax swap: capital taxes, including corporate income taxes and taxes on investments; labor taxes, such as payroll taxes and income taxes on wages; and consumption taxes, including fuel excise taxes and state sales taxes.<sup>158</sup> Reducing capital taxes incentivizes additional investment. Reducing labor taxes either reduces labor costs for employers (incentivizing them to hire more); increases after-tax compensation to employees (incentivizes higher consumption of taxed goods and services.<sup>160</sup> Tax swaps present another opportunity for reducing the burden of a carbon tax on consumers as well as producers.

A forthcoming paper in this series will assess and compare the macroeconomic impact of various carbon tax revenue allocation choices, including the tax swaps described earlier.

#### **Climate Change Mitigation and Adaptation Investments**

Many advocates of a carbon tax argue that the revenue should be used to deliver additional GHG emissions reductions and associated environmental benefits beyond those achieved by the tax.<sup>161</sup> Under a cap-and-trade system, direct investments in clean energy or energy efficiency would have no emissions impact—they would instead reduce the price of emissions



allowances. Under a carbon tax, these investments can deliver additional abatement; the question is how efficient they are relative to creating a higher tax. Investments likely to be efficient are those that address market failures other than the social cost of GHG emissions, that nevertheless impact energy production and consumption. For example, a long body of economics literature makes the case for government investment in R&D, as private firms underinvest in R&D because they cannot capture the full social benefits of innovation.<sup>162</sup> Carbon tax revenue can be used to address this market failure by supporting clean energy R&D. Spending to address principal-agent and other barriers to energy efficiency investment is another potential use. Carbon tax revenue could also be used to reduce emissions in sectors not covered by the tax but where cost effective abatement opportunities exist, such as land use and agriculture.

On the adaptation side, carbon tax revenue could also be used to fund additional research and assistance in preparing for the impacts of climate change. This could include, for example, increases to spending on NASA and NOAA programs that monitor extreme weather or on early warning systems for at-risk communities. In addition, some portion of revenues could be directed to investments in improving the climate resilience of the nation's critical transportation and energy infrastructure. Such investments have the potential to avoid substantial costs from more intense and frequent natural disasters in the future.<sup>163</sup>

#### **Transition Assistance**

Other advocates argue that revenue should be used to mitigate the negative impacts of the transition to a lower-carbon economy on specific industries or communities or to help pay for the public health impacts of fossil fuel combustion. Reducing fossil fuel consumption and production in response to a carbon tax will impact some communities more than others. Coal-mining communities, and those with coal-fired power plants, would likely be the most immediately impacted, followed by oil and gas producing communities and those with large refineries. These communities may seek to use funds for economic diversification, including infrastructure, education, workforce training, small business incubation, and tax credits to help attract new investment.

A carbon tax would also affect the international competitiveness of energy-intensive companies in the United States, like steel, aluminum, chemicals, and cement. Under the American Clean Energy and Security Act, a share of allowance revenue was used to mitigate these impacts through an output-based rebating system.<sup>164</sup> Industry would likely ask for a similar provision as part of carbon tax legislation or the imposition of a border tax imposed on imported energy-intensive goods. This is discussed more fully later on in this paper.

Spending might also aim to address the effects of past air pollution and climate impacts. Fossil fuel combustion not only releases GHG emissions but also other pollutants that impact human health. In California, a share of cap-and-trade revenue is earmarked for investment in communities that have been disproportionately impacted by these pollutants in the past.<sup>165</sup> In the state of Washington, many environmental justice (EJ) groups were opposed to the carbon tax ballot measure in 2016 because it did not include such a provision.<sup>166</sup> EJ groups will likely advocate for revenue being used to address the legacy effects of air pollution from fossil fuel combustion in any national carbon tax debate as well.



#### **Spending on Other Policy Goals**

Revenue could also be used to fund government spending priorities entirely unrelated to climate change. Considering carbon tax revenue as general use revenue would allow policymakers to assess the relative merits of spending a dollar on climate change versus the broadest array of other possible government priorities and allocate resources accordingly. The budget process is designed to consider these explicit trade-offs across priorities, while earmarking funds for particular uses from particular revenue sources narrows the scope of consideration and may result in spending on less efficient government programs.

#### **Deficit Reduction**

For those concerned with the size and sustainability of US government debt, carbon tax revenue may be an attractive option for deficit reduction. In 2015, the federal government's budget deficit was over \$400 billion<sup>167</sup> and is projected to be closer to \$700 billion on average through 2022.<sup>168</sup> The recent tax bill passed by Congress increases this yet further. The estimates of possible carbon tax revenue presented in table 5 above range from \$97 to \$220 billion per year on average over 10 years. Revenues at the high end of that range would be sufficient to cut the deficit in half and make a meaningful contribution to reducing the country's nearly \$15 trillion public federal debt.<sup>169</sup>





Billion Current USD



Even if most carbon tax revenue is rebated, used to reduce other taxes, or used to fund new spending, some amount of deficit reduction may be required to keep the legislation revenue neutral through congressional budget scoring. The exact amount is contingent on the details of the carbon tax design. As discussed above, the CBO assumes a carbon tax will reduce other sources of federal tax revenue by 25 percent of the revenue generated by the carbon tax.<sup>170</sup> Under this scoring approach, up to 25 percent of the revenue generated by a carbon tax could be required to offset other revenue losses for the legislation to be considered revenue neutral.<sup>171</sup>



### INTERACTION BETWEEN CARBON TAXES AND OTHER ENERGY AND ENVIRONMENTAL POLICIES

A carbon tax, especially one with an economy-wide scope, will interact with a range of existing energy and environmental policies. The portfolio of federal polices to promote energy development (renewable, nuclear, and fossil), energy efficiency, and GHG emission reductions is broad. It is implemented by a wide range of federal agencies.<sup>172</sup> An even larger amount of energy and environmental policy making is done at the state and local level.<sup>173</sup>

How a carbon tax will interact with existing policies is a key design question. As discussed, if the aim of a carbon tax is to achieve GHG reductions at lowest cost, it may make sense to remove other policies that reduce emissions at a higher cost or by predetermining where in the economy emissions reductions should come from. On the other hand, there may be various market failures and regulatory barriers that prevent the price signal from a carbon tax from working as efficiently in practice as it might in theory. For example, a wide behavioral economics literature reveals that consumers suffer from various biases in making decisions—like whether to pay more today for a more fuel-efficient device that will save them money over time—and thus may not react in the optimal way to a carbon tax.<sup>174</sup>

Interaction with existing policies is also important because there are some policies that are aimed at addressing environmental issues other than climate change (like local air pollution) or other priorities (like energy security), and these policies can significantly impact the way in which energy systems respond to a carbon tax. For example, the original goal of fuel economy standards—administered by the Department of Transportation under authority from Congress—was to reduce oil consumption for energy security reasons. Only later did a ruling by the Supreme Court and a subsequent "endangerment finding" by the US Environmental Protection Agency (EPA) lead to fuel economy standards being developed as well aimed at regulating GHG emissions from the tailpipe.<sup>175</sup>

Understanding interaction with existing policies is key because the reality is that any political deal to enact a carbon tax is highly likely to include elimination of various regulations and regulatory authorities that federal agencies currently have to address climate change. Many companies on record as supporting a carbon tax already may only do so if a carbon tax is adopted in lieu of other climate regulations.<sup>176</sup>

This section identifies the most significant existing energy and environmental policies with which a carbon tax would interact. Subsequent analysis in this series will model these interactions in detail and highlight areas where existing policy complements a carbon tax and where it conflicts.



#### **Federal Regulations**

Federal agencies have promulgated a wide range of energy and environmental regulations under authority granted to them by Congress. Some are designed specifically to reduce GHG emissions—such as the EPA's New Source Performance Standards (NSPS) for CO<sub>2</sub> emissions from power plants;<sup>177</sup> CO<sub>2</sub> emission standards for existing power plants (the Clean Power Plan);<sup>178</sup> and GHG emission standards for vehicles.<sup>179</sup> These rules were adopted by the Obama Administration following the failure of cap-and-trade legislation to impose an economywide price on carbon.<sup>180</sup> Following the EPA's endangerment finding, which concluded that GHG emissions pose a threat to public health, the EPA was legally obligated to regulate GHG emissions under the Clean Air Act.<sup>181</sup>

Given that an economy-wide carbon tax would attempt to price the social cost of carbon emissions from these sources, the questions arise whether these regulations are duplicative and unnecessary if Congress were to adopt a carbon tax.<sup>182</sup> A challenge in assessing this claim is that many policies may have other purposes or may address other market failures aside from the cost of carbon. As noted above, not only are GHG emission standards for vehicles promulgated by the EPA under authority to regulate GHG emissions,<sup>183</sup> but fuel economy is regulated by the National Highway and Transportation Safety Administration under authority from Congress to reduce dependence on foreign oil.<sup>184</sup> Moreover, there may be other market failures—such as behavioral biases that undermine the ability of consumers to respond most economically to a carbon price signal—that would serve as evidence in favor of other government policies, such as mandating higher levels of fuel economy.



There is another collection of regulations that reduce GHG emissions but are intended primarily to address issues other than climate change. This includes building-energy codes and appliance standards aimed at reducing energy waste and energy costs for households and businesses.<sup>185</sup> The climate benefits of these regulations are factored into rulemakings but as just one component alongside other quantifiable benefits, like consumer savings, reduced local air pollution, and enhancement of the nation's energy security.<sup>186</sup> If a carbon tax is implemented, regulators would have to adjust the manner in which they calculate the benefits of these programs. For example, if the federal government were using a SCC of \$45/ ton of CO<sub>2</sub> for rulemakings, and there was a federal carbon tax of \$25, then climate benefit of any emission reductions resulting from the regulations could be calculated using the remaining \$20/ton difference between the carbon tax and the SCC. The quantification of the nonclimate benefits in the rule would stay the same. Indeed, to the extent these regulations address market failures that a carbon tax does not address (like building codes that overcome principal-agent barriers preventing building tenants from improving the energy efficiency of their homes or businesses), they can make the tax more effective in reducing GHG emissions.

Finally, there are federal energy market regulations and permitting procedures that may need to evolve to accommodate the level of market transformation a carbon tax is intended to produce. This includes electricity and natural gas market regulations from the Federal Energy Regulatory Commission<sup>187</sup> and the interagency process for permitting new transmission infrastructure, not to mention state and local permitting issues.<sup>188</sup>

#### Federal research and development on clean energy technologies

The federal government spends \$6 billion each year on research and development of clean energy technologies.<sup>189</sup> Even with an appropriate price on carbon, there are other market failures that would continue to justify government R&D spending. There is a substantial body of research suggesting there are positive externalities to research and development in many areas, including clean energy.<sup>190</sup> Given that private firms are unable to capture the full social value of their innovation, they do not make socially optimal investments in emission reducing technology, even in the presence of a relatively high carbon tax.<sup>191</sup> Federal clean energy R&D may, however, need to be refocused if a carbon tax were to be adopted.

#### **Federal Subsidies for Clean Energy**

The federal government provides subsidies for clean energy in a variety of ways, especially through the tax code. The Production Tax Credit (PTC), for instance, provides a per kWh subsidy for 10 years of operation of new wind facilities<sup>192</sup> and has played a major role in the threefold expansion of wind generation that's occurred in the United States over the past eight years.<sup>193</sup> The PTC has traditionally been extended year-by-year, though there were a few years in which it expired.<sup>194</sup> As part of a bipartisan tax deal in December 2015, Congress adopted a multiyear phaseout of the PTC.<sup>195</sup> All facilities that commence construction in 2017 receive a \$0.0184/kWh credit, a 20 percent reduction from 2016 levels. That amount will be reduced by 40 percent from 2016 levels in 2018 and 60 percent in 2019 before being eliminated entirely in 2020.<sup>196</sup>



The Investment Tax Credit (ITC) allows companies and households to receive a federal tax credit equivalent to 30 percent of the purchase cost of new solar or wind systems and 10 percent of new geothermal electric systems (fuel cells, microturbines, geothermal heat pumps, and other technologies used to be covered as well).<sup>197</sup> Like the PTC, Congress adopted a multiyear phasedown for the ITC in December 2015. For solar systems, which account for the vast majority of ITC credits, systems that commence construction in 2021 receive a 26 percent credit—those that begin construction in 2021 receive a 22 percent credit, after which the credit is set to 10 percent for all future years.<sup>198</sup> The phasedown schedule for wind and geothermal systems is more aggressive.<sup>199</sup> Many clean energy technologies also qualify for accelerated depreciation under the Modified Accelerated Cost Recovery System (MACRS), which provides a considerable tax benefit.<sup>200</sup> There used to be a wide range of tax credits available for residential and commercial buyers of select energy efficiency technology, but nearly all expired at the end of 2016.<sup>201</sup>

When first adopted, clean energy tax credits like the PTC and ITC were intended to help spur the development of new, emerging clean energy technologies.<sup>202</sup> For more mature technologies, like wind and solar photovoltaic (PV), they now effectively serve as a large-scale deployment policy—helping to close the cost gap with natural gas and coal in power generation.<sup>203</sup> One policy rationale for these subsidies is that they offset the lack of an internalized social cost in hydrocarbon use. Imposing a carbon tax would thus undermine one of the key rationales for solar and wind tax credits, as the cost of hydrocarbon-based energy would now reflect the social cost of carbon. In that way, a carbon tax might eliminate the need for the PTC and ITC for wind and solar PV if they were not both already on a path to being phased out (or down, in the case of solar). In the face of a carbon tax, federal subsidies might need to be refocused to encourage the development of early-stage technologies.

### Federal Royalty, Bonus, Lease, and Tax Revenue from Fossil Fuel Production

A carbon tax will affect demand for coal, oil, and natural gas produced everywhere, including on federal lands and waters. Because resources on federal lands are owned by the public, the federal government currently collects revenue from this production through leasing, bonus awards, and royalty payments to ensure that the public captures the value of the resources extracted.<sup>204</sup> The government also collects other revenue that may be affected by a carbon tax, such as other excise taxes on gasoline that are used to fund transportation needs. To the extent a carbon tax reduces demand for gasoline and diesel, those sources of revenue will decrease—even as drivers of alternative-fuel vehicles continue to use the roads. Policymakers will increasingly need to consider how to meet these other federal funding needs, including whether any revenue from the carbon tax should be directed at these purposes. As discussed above, a carbon tax could reduce revenue from income and payroll taxes as well. Understanding the impact of a carbon tax on these revenue streams is important to assessing its net impact on the federal budget as a whole.



It is also important to determine whether other excise taxes may already internalize part of the social cost of carbon. For example, as discussed previously, a \$50/ton carbon tax would raise the cost of gasoline 44 cents. But 32 states already have taxes on gasoline that exceed 44 cents/gallon when both state and federal taxes are summed.<sup>205</sup> Drivers may thus be seen as already paying for the social costs of the carbon in their gasoline use. However, to the extent the purpose of the tax is to correct other negative externalities, such as congestion or road use, the carbon tax may need to be additional. The interaction of existing taxes with a future carbon tax requires careful consideration by policymakers.

#### **State Regulations and Carbon Pricing Systems**

As noted, policies that directly regulate the same GHGs that are subject to the carbon tax present possible conflicts. This is not only the case with respect to federal policies but also with conflicting state policies, such as the 10 state cap-and-trade programs discussed above. Regulated entities in these states will face a situation where they are paying for carbon emissions twice and are subject to additional administrative burdens with no additional environmental benefit (unless caps are ratcheted down to be bindings on emissions). This raises a key question in carbon tax design: Should a federal carbon tax *preempt* state carbon pricing programs and possibly other policies as well?

In modern history, there are few instances where states have been completely preempted and removed from the field of regulation unless there are conflicts with the commerce clause of the constitution.<sup>206</sup> Yet if the federal government adopts a nationwide approach to internalize the social costs of carbon emissions, there will be little policy rationale for a state to do so as well. To impose a federal tax on top of a state tax or regulation would effectively constitute double taxation or regulation because the taxpayer is already paying for the social damages they are causing. Yet given the uncertainty about the optimal level of a carbon tax, some states may wish to go beyond the federal approach and impose additional carbon taxes for emissions. A given state may want to reduce emissions more quickly than the federal government; may hold a different view than the federal government about the right way to discount future climate damages in today's dollars (adopting a lower discount rate); or may wish to pursue more of a precautionary principle to set a higher carbon tax in light of the large uncertainties about what the costs of climate change will end up being. If such a state believes the right level of a carbon tax is \$100/ton rather than \$40/ton, it may argue it should be allowed to impose a \$60/ton tax on emissions in addition to the federal carbon tax.

Moreover, as discussed, state carbon pricing programs have been around long enough that they are now a relied upon source of revenue for key programs.<sup>207</sup> If these programs were preempted as part of a federal carbon tax, states may well argue for compensation.

If states were allowed to impose a higher carbon price, they could either maintain a cap-andtrade program with a minimum allowance price above the federal tax rate or apply their own carbon taxes in addition to the federal program. While no state has a carbon tax in place currently, six states on the West Coast and Northeast are currently contemplating them.<sup>208</sup> There are countless examples of instances where states tax the same things that the federal government taxes, including income, motor fuels, investments, and other activities.<sup>209</sup> Carbon



might be similar. This approach might also simplify the additional administrative burden imposed on regulated entities since they would just need to pay the tax rather than engage in allowance auctions and emissions trading.

Beyond carbon pricing, there is also the question of whether states should be permitted to implement other climate regulations and mandates. If there were full certainty that the federal government had accurately internalized the social cost of carbon, for example, some may argue there is little need for states to also impose regulations that indirectly price emissions in order to achieve greater reductions in tax GHG emissions, such as through renewable portfolio standards. To the extent that state renewable mandates led to a higher supply of renewable energy than a carbon tax alone would have, they are effectively imposing a higher price on carbon and directing that those emission reductions come from more renewable energy.

#### **State Revenue from Carbon Pricing Systems**

Like the federal government, states use excise taxes on motor fuels to fund infrastructure investment.<sup>210</sup> A federal carbon tax will affect these revenue streams. States also could see royalties from energy production shift away from carbon-intensive fuels as well as a decline in severance tax receipts from fossil fuel production. In addition, as discussed earlier, 10 states currently have GHG cap-and-trade programs in place, covering at a minimum electric power.<sup>211</sup> These states rely on the revenue from the auction of compliance allowances to fund a variety of programs.<sup>212</sup> For example, in California, it is estimated that the state generated over \$2 billion a year in 2015 and 2016 from allowance auctions with the money targeted toward clean energy and transportation projects.<sup>213</sup> A federal carbon tax will drive capped emissions down in these states, possibly to the point where allowance auction prices hit their minimum levels, and may reduce the volume of allowances sold. Both of these impacts will reduce revenue from these programs. In response, states may appeal to the federal government to seek compensation for lost revenues as a result of a national carbon tax program. Alternatively, instead of relying on a federal solution to this problem, states could make up the revenue through other channels, such as raising excise and severance tax rates.



## **INTERNATIONAL TRADE EFFECTS**

A carbon tax will raise the cost of production for certain industries, through higher energy prices, a new tax obligation for GHG emissions released during fuel combustion and industrial processes, or some combination of both depending on the scope of the tax and the point of taxation. For particularly energy-intensive or GHG-intensive industries, this could create a competitive disadvantage vis-à-vis peers in countries without a carbon tax or with one set at a lower level. If this resulted in production shifting abroad, it would both increase the economic cost of the program and undermine its environmental effectiveness as industrial emissions leak to other countries—although research finds the scale of this potential problem to be smaller than often perceived.<sup>214</sup>

#### The Cap-and-Trade Experience

Preventing a loss in international competitiveness and emissions leakage was a major legislative design issue in the American Clean Energy and Security Act (ACES).<sup>215</sup> That bill opted for a combination of output-based rebating and a border carbon tax adjustment.<sup>216</sup>

#### **Output-Based Rebating**

ACES dedicated approximately 14 percent of all allowances under the cap-and-trade program it created for provision to energy-intensive trade-exposed industries (EITEIs) to offset the impact of the program on their production costs.<sup>217</sup> These allowances were rebated to companies commensurate with their outputs and at a sector-wide average emissions intensity.<sup>218</sup> This maintained an incentive for firms to reduce emissions, as reducing their emissions increased their rebate amounts. California has adopted a similar program under Assembly Bill 32.<sup>219</sup>

#### Border Carbon Adjustment

Under ACES, the output-based rebating program would have phased out over time and been replaced with a border carbon adjustment (BCA) that required importers of EITEI goods to purchase allowances to cover the embedded emissions in those products.<sup>220</sup> This was waived for countries deemed to have a comparable climate policy in place.<sup>221</sup>

#### **Carbon Tax Design Decisions**

A similarly broad set of choices faces carbon tax design. Namely, is it better to address competitiveness and leakage concerns through tax rebates for EITEIs or by imposing a domestic carbon tax on imported EITEI goods? Should the tax then also be rebated for domestically produced products that are exported? Legislators will also need to answer the following policy design questions:



#### Eligibility

What products qualify as energy intensive and trade exposed and thus eligible for either a tax rebate or a border adjustment? ACES defined EITEI as any industry that met the following criteria:<sup>222</sup>

- a. *Energy intensity:* where the cost of purchased electricity and fuel is greater than 5 percent of total shipment value.
- b. *GHG intensity:* where the number 20 multiplied by the number of tons of GHG emitted in the production of the good (including the generation of purchased electricity) divided by total shipment value is greater than 5 percent.
- c. *Trade intensity:* where the value of total imports and exports are greater than 15 percent of total shipment value.

This determination was to be made based on publicly available historical data from the US Census, EIA, and other federal agencies.

#### Embedded GHG Calculations

If a carbon tax is going to be rebated to EITEIs, legislators will need to decide whether to do so based on a sectoral average GHG intensity or firm-specific reporting. If the US carbon tax is instead adjusted at the border, legislators will need to decide how to assess the GHG emissions emitted during the production of the imported good to determine the amount of tax to be assigned. This could be done at the US national average level (likely the most administratively simple) or based on federal agency assessment of the average emissions intensity of production in the exporting country, which can be complex. Different processes for producing steel, for example, can consume different amounts of energy. Failure to give appropriate credit to firms that use cleaner processes might not only lead to international trade challenges<sup>223</sup> but might also undermine the incentive firms have to reduce emissions in the face of a US carbon tax. Legislators will also need to decide whether to give importers the ability to appeal this determination through provision of firm-specific information.

#### Comparability/Reciprocity

If a carbon tax is adjusted at the border, legislators will need to determine whether to do so for all imports or whether to exempt imports from certain countries because they have a comparable climate policy in place. If another country has a carbon tax set at the same level as the United States, this assessment is straightforward. However, if another country pursues other climate and energy policies—such as efficiency standards, mandates for renewable energy deployment, or subsidies for nuclear energy—it may be challenging to assess whether these actions are comparable to the ambition of US policy efforts.

ACES sought to exempt imports from countries with comparable policies, but because of the way "comparability" is generally defined in international climate negotiations (and thus by the federal agencies implementing the legislation), the border adjustment would likely have



been waived for imports from countries with a significantly lower effective carbon price, thus undermining the efficacy of the provision in preventing a loss of US competitiveness.<sup>224</sup> An alternative under a carbon tax would be to impose the carbon tax on all imports, in the same way that countries with value-added taxes impose them on imports. Trading partners with their own domestic carbon prices could then rebate their carbon fees to their producers upon export, though this too raises administrative questions.

#### GATT Consistency

A key consideration for legislators in all of the choices is whether or not they are consistent with US commitments in the General Agreement on Tariffs and Trade (GATT) and other trade agreements.<sup>225</sup> A border adjustment would need to be designed so that it would not violate the "national treatment" obligation in article III of GATT by discriminating against imports or the "most-favored nation" obligation in article I by discriminating among importing nations.<sup>226</sup> The legal assessment of these questions would depend heavily on the considerations discussed earlier, such as whether higher-carbon steel is like lower-carbon steel and whether another nation has taken comparably effective climate actions that would prohibit differential treatment. If a border tax was found illegal for these reasons, the question would then arise whether it was nonetheless permissible because it satisfied one of the allowed exceptions to GATT rules, such as the exception for measures "relating to the conservation of exhaustible natural resources if such measures are made effective in conjunction with restrictions on domestic production or consumption."<sup>227</sup> A separate paper in this series will explore all these international trade questions in greater depth.



# **DISTRIBUTIONAL CONSIDERATIONS**

A carbon tax will not impact all Americans equally. All the choices—regarding the scope and level of a carbon tax and how the resulting revenue should be used—that have been discussed will impact different groups of Americans in different ways. This section discusses some of the most important distributional considerations policymakers should keep in mind when drafting carbon tax legislation.<sup>228</sup>

#### Income

A carbon tax would raise the cost of energy to households and businesses, with important distributional consequences. Low-income households generally spend a larger share of their incomes on energy than high-income households.<sup>229</sup> Higher energy costs to businesses result in higher-cost consumer products. These indirect price increases are generally thought to be more evenly distributed across income levels.<sup>230</sup>

The net impact of a carbon tax on Americans of different income levels depends, in part, on how the revenue is used. A lump-sum rebate is generally thought to make the tax highly progressive—at least for the bottom half of the income distribution<sup>231</sup>—while using the revenue to reduce the corporate income tax would likely make it regressive. The distributional profile of a carbon tax also varies when viewed over the lifetime of an individual rather than just at a particular point in time.<sup>232</sup> It also depends on the distributional profile of regulations that are avoided or eliminated in implementing the carbon tax.<sup>233</sup> Finally, the impacts of climate change that a carbon tax is designed to avoid also differentially impact Americans of different income levels.<sup>234</sup> The papers in this series will take all these actors into account when analyzing the impact of different carbon tax design options.

### Sectoral

A carbon tax would impact some sectors of the economy more than others. Coal mining and power generation will likely be the most significantly impacted, followed by oil production and refining. Natural gas production, distribution, and power generation are likely to benefit in the short and medium term under a carbon tax as a lower-carbon alternative to coal but may suffer in the long term unless carbon capture and sequestration technology is successfully commercialized. Renewable and nuclear energy will likely benefit as will advanced vehicle manufacturing and energy efficiency technology.

Outside the energy sector, EITEIs will likely be impacted, at least to a small degree. Without a policy to mitigate these adverse impacts, some production will likely migrate to other countries with less stringent climate policy. The sectoral impacts of a carbon tax will also depend on how revenue is allocated. For example, cuts in corporate income or payroll taxes can have meaningful sectoral implications, as will lump-sum rebates that increase consumer spending among low and middle income Americans. A paper in this series will model the sectoral impacts of a carbon tax in detail under a range of possible design scenarios.



#### Geographic

Finally, a carbon tax will not impact all parts of the country equally.<sup>235</sup> Fossil-fuel-producing states and those that rely on coal for a large share of power generation are likely to be more negatively impacted than those with relatively low-carbon electrical systems. Rural communities will likely face larger energy cost increases as a share of income than urban residents because low population density typically is associated with higher per capita oil demand. Communities with rich renewable resources are more likely to capture the clean energy investment a carbon tax would incentivize. Here, as well, revenue allocation decisions will play an important role in determining the net impact across geographies—particularly if legislators choose to address geographic heterogeneity in energy production and consumption directly, as they did in ACES through free allowance allocations to carbon-intensive utilities and local distribution companies. The impacts of climate change a carbon tax is designed to avoid will also be unevenly spread across the country. The papers in this series will take all these factors into account.



# **CONCLUSIONS**

While the immediate prospects for a national carbon tax in the United States may appear remote, there is growing interest among some policymakers and increasingly among businesses, NGOs, thought leaders and "elder statesmen" on both sides of the political aisle. Should a legislative opening emerge in the years ahead, policymakers will need to grapple with a range of important design issues that will determine the effectiveness of the tax in reducing GHG emissions; its impact on energy markets and prices; the distributional and economic growth implications of different revenue allocation options; and interactions with existing tax, energy, and environmental policy at the federal, state, and local level. The key design choices identified in this paper will be analyzed in a series of forthcoming papers through this carbon tax design research initiative.



# NOTES

- 1. Arthur Cecil Pigou, The Economics of Welfare (London: Macmillan: Publisher, 1920), files.libertyfund.org/files/1410/Pigou\_0316.pdf.
- David G. Wilson, "Present Status of a Revenue-Neutral 'Four-E' Policy on Energy, Employment, Equality, and the Environment," Journal of Energy Challenges and Mechanics, 4, no. 1 (2017), www.nscj.co.uk/JECM/PDF/4-1-3-Wilson.pdf; Chris Berdik, "The Unsung Inventor of the Carbon Tax," Boston Globe, Aug. 10, 2014, www.bostonglobe.com/ideas/2014/08/09/the-unsung-inventor-carbon-tax/ f1xFyWmaXf2XzW3nVxrNJK/story.html.
- 3. Juliana Gruenwald, "Administration Calls for Broad-Based Energy Tax," UPI, Feb. 17, 1993, www.upi.com/Archives/1993/02/17/Administration-calls-for-broad-based-energy-tax/1382729925200/.
- David E. Rosenbaum, "Senators on Finance Panel Reach Accord on a Budget with Gas Tax and New Cuts," *The New York Times,* June 17, 1993, www.nytimes.com/1993/06/ 17/us/senators-on-finance-panel-reach-accord-on-a-budget-with-gas-tax-and-new-cuts.html.
- 5. Darren Samuelsohn and Robin Bravender, "Greens Desperate to Avoid Blame," Politico, Nov. 4, 2010, www.politico.com/story/2010/11/greens-desperate-to-avoid-blame-044689.
- 6. Lisa Lerer, "Is Cap and Trade Dems' next 'BTU'?," Politico, July 13, 2009, www. politico.com/story/2009/07/is-cap-and-trade-dems-next-btu-024843.
- 7. Jeffrey Frankel, "The Rise and Fall of Cap-and-Trade," Views on the Economy and the World, Harvard Belfer Center, Feb. 18, 2014, www.belfercenter.org/publication/rise-and-fall-cap-and-trade.
- 8. See, e.g., Robert Stavins and Bradley Whitehead, "Market-Based Environmental Policies," in Thinking Ecologically, The Next Generation of Environmental Policy, eds. Marian Chertow and Daniel Esty, 1997, scholar.harvard.edu/files/stavins/files/market\_based\_environmental\_policies.pdf.
- 9. Robert Stavins, "Cap-and-Trade versus the Alternatives for U.S. Climate Policy," An Economic View of the Environment, Oct. 5, 2009, www.robertstavinsblog. org/2009/10/05/cap-and-trade-versus-the-alternatives-for-u-s-climate-policy/.
- 10. David Rotman, "Gilbert Metcalf: A Leading Economist Explains Why a Carbon Tax Is the Best Strategy for Cutting Greenhouse Gases and the Use of Fossil Fuels," MIT Technology Review, Dec. 22, 2008, www.technologyreview.com/s/411433/gilbert-metcalf/.
- 11. "Climate Policy Memo #1: Cap and Trade v. Taxes," Pew Center on Global Climate Change, Mar. 2009, www.c2es.org/site/assets/uploads/2009/03/climate-policy-memo-1-cap-andtrade-vs-taxes.pdf.



- 12. Martin Weitzman, "Voting on Prices vs. Voting on Quantities in a World Climate Assembly," Apr. 22, 2016, scholar.harvard.edu/files/weitzman/files/2016.voting. prices.vs\_quantities.pdf.
- 13. See "American Clean Energy and Security Act of 2009," H.R. 2454, 111th Congress (2009), www.congress.gov/bill/111th-congress/house-bill/2454.
- 14. James Ceasar, "The 2010 Verdict," Real Clear Politics, Nov. 10, 2010, available at www.realclearpolitics.com/articles/2010/11/10/the\_2010\_verdict\_107908.html.
- Endangerment and Cause or Contribute Findings for Greenhouse Gases under Section 202(a) of the Clean Air Act; Final Rule, 74 Fed. Reg. 66496 (Dec. 15, 2009), www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/FR-2009-12-15/pdf/E9-29537.pdf.
- 16. See "President Obama's Climate Action Plan: 2nd Anniversary Progress Report," the White House, June 2015, obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/sites/default/files/ docs/cap\_progress\_report\_final\_w\_cover.pdf.
- 17. Carbon Pollution Emission Guidelines for Existing Stationary Sources: Electric Utility Generating Units, 80 Fed. Reg. 64661 (Oct. 23, 2015), www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/ FR-2015-10-23/pdf/2015-22842.pdf.
- Oil and Natural Gas Sector: Emission Standards for New, Reconstructed, and Modified Sources, 81 Fed. Reg. 35823 (Aug. 2, 2016), www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/FR-2016-06-03/ pdf/2016-11971.pdf.
- 2017 and Later Model Year Light-Duty Vehicle Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Corporate Average Fuel Economy Standards: Final Rule, 77 Fed. Reg. 62623, (Oct. 15, 2012), www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/FR-2012-10-15/pdf/2012-21972.pdf.
- 20. 2006 Cal. Stat. 89 (codified as Cal. Health and Safety Code §§ 38500-99 [2010]), leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes\_displayexpandedbranch. xhtml?tocCode=HSC&division=25.5.&title=&part=&chapter=&article=.
- 21. See "First Update to the Climate Change Scoping Plan: Building on the Framework, Pursuant to AB 32," State of California (May 2014), www.arb.ca.gov/ cc/scopingplan/2013\_update/first\_update\_climate\_change\_scoping\_plan.pdf.
- 22. See website of Regional Greenhouse Gas Initiative at www.rggi.org.
- 23. "State Renewable Portfolio Standards and Goals," National Conference of State Legislatures, Aug. 1, 2017, www.ncsl.org/research/energy/renewable-portfolio-standards.aspx.
- 24. "ACEEE Policy Brief: State Energy Efficiency Resource Standards (EERS)," America Council for an Energy Efficient Economy, Jan. 2017, aceee.org/sites/default/ files/state-eers-0117.pdf.
- 25. "Carbon Tax: Overview of the Revenue-Neutral Carbon Tax," British Columbia Ministry of Finance, www.fin.gov.bc.ca/tbs/tp/climate/carbon\_tax.htm.



- 26. "ETS Detailed Information: Chile," International Carbon Action Partnership, Aug. 2017, icapcarbonaction.com/en/ets-map?etsid=54.
- 27. Chris Buckley, "Xi Jinping Is Set for a Big Gamble with China's Carbon Trading Market," the New York Times (June 23, 2017), www.nytimes.com/2017/06/23/ world/asia/china-cap-trade-carbon-greenhouse.html?\_r=0.
- 28. Jennifer Ludden, "New Groups Make a Conservative Argument on Climate Change," National Public Radio, Sept. 26, 2012, www.npr.org/sections/itsallpolitics/2012/ 09/26/161824667/new-groups-argue-a-conservative-take-on-climate-change.
- 29. Henry Paulson Jr., "The Coming Climate Crash: Lessons for Climate Change in the 2008 Recession," the New York Times (June 21, 2014), www.nytimes.com/2014/06/22/ opinion/sunday/lessons-for-climate-change-in-the-2008-recession.html.
- 30. Jerry Taylor, "The Conservative Case for a Carbon Tax," the Niskanen Center, Mar. 23, 2015, niskanencenter.org/wp-content/uploads/2015/03/The-Conservative-Case-for-a-Carbon-Tax1.pdf.
- George P. Shultz and James A. Baker III, "A Conservative Answer to Climate Change," Wall Street Journal (Feb. 7, 2017), www.wsj.com/articles/a-conservative-answerto-climate-change-1486512334.
- 32. See "About AMS," Alliance for Market Solutions, allianceformarketsolutions.org/about-us/.
- 33. Climate Leadership Council, founding members (June 27, 2017), available at www.clcouncil.org/founding-members/.
- 34. "Combating Climate Change to Save the Planet," Presidential Campaign of Bernie Sanders, 2016, berniesanders.com/issues/climate-change/.
- 35. Tim Cama, "Clinton Walks Fine Line on Carbon Tax," the Hill (July 31, 2016), thehill. com/policy/energy-environment/289849-clinton-walks-fine-line-on-carbon-tax.
- 36. "The 2016 Democratic Platform," the Democratic National Committee, 2016, www.democrats.org/party-platform#environment.
- 37. See "American Opportunity Carbon Fee Act Introduced in Congress," Office of Senator Sheldon Whitehouse, July 26, 207; bill available at www.congress.gov/ bill/115th-congress/senate-bill/1639.
- 38. See, e.g., Joe Kennedy, "A Tax on Carbon Could Be the Answer to Corporate Tax Reform," the Hill (Aug. 18, 2017), thehill.com/blogs/pundits-blog/economybudget/347124-how-a-carbon-tax-could-save-corporate-tax-reform.
- Joint Committee on Taxation, "Macroeconomic Analysis of the Conference Agreement for H.R. 1, The "Tax Cuts and Jobs Act," Dec. 22, 2017, www.jct.gov/publications.html?func=startdown&id=5055.
- 40. For a good compilation of work, see Ian Parry, Adele Morris, Roberston C. Williams, eds. Implementing a US Carbon Tax: Challenges and Debates. New York: Routledge, 2015



- 41. "NASA, NOAA Data Show 2016 Warmest Year on Record Globally," National Aeronautics and Space Administration, Goddard Institute for Space Studies, Jan. 18, 2017, www.giss. nasa.gov/research/news/20170118/.
- 42. IPCC, 2013: Climate Change 2013: The Physical Science Basis. Contribution of Working Group I to the Fifth Assessment Report of the Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change [Stocker, T.F., D. Qin, G.-K. Plattner, M. Tignor, S.K. Allen, J. Boschung, A. Nauels, Y. Xia, V. Bex and P.M. Midgley (eds.)]. Cambridge University Press, Cambridge and New York, pp. 1535, www.climatechange2013.org/images/report/WG1AR5\_ALL\_FINAL.pdf
- G. S. Callendar, "The Artificial Production of Carbon Dioxide and Its Influence on Temperature," Quarterly Journal of the Royal Meteorological Society 64, no. 275 (1938), 223–240, www.met.reading.ac.uk/~ed/callendar\_1938.pdf.
- 44. "Global Greenhouse Gas Emissions Data: Global Emissions by Gas," Environmental Protection Agency, fig. entitled "Global Greenhouse Gas Emissions by Gas," www.epa.gov/ ghgemissions/global-greenhouse-gas-emissions-data.
- 45. Ibid.
- 46. Ibid.
- 47. Ibid.
- 48. Ibid.
- 49. "Global Greenhouse Gas Emissions Data: Trends in Global Emission," Environmental Protection Agency, www.epa.gov/ghgemissions/global-greenhouse-gas-emissions-data.
- Brittany Patterson, "Earth's CO<sub>2</sub> Levels Have Crossed the 400 PPM Threshold for Good," E&E News, Sept. 29, 2016, www.eenews.net/stories/1060043585.
- 51. D. Lüthi et al., "High-Resolution Carbon Dioxide Concentration Record 650,000–800,000 Years before Present," Nature 453, 379–382 (2008), www.nature.com/articles/nature06949.
- 52. A. Rovere et al., "The Mid-Pliocene Sea-Level Conundrum: Glacial Isostasy, Eustasy and Dynamic Topography," Earth and Planetary Science Letters 387, 27–33, www. sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0012821X13006006?via%3Dihub.
- 53. Moreover, different GHGs have different atmospheric lifetimes, making their relative effect on radiative forcing of the atmosphere a function of both current potency and longevity.
- 54. T. Houser et al., Economic Risks of Climate Change: An American Prospectus (2015), cup.columbia.edu/book/economic-risks-of-climate-change/9780231174565.
- 55. Ibid.
- 56. M. Burke, S. M. Hsiang, and E. Miguel, "Global Non-Linear Effect of Temperature on Economic Production," Nature 527, 235-239 (2015), www.nature.com/articles/nature15725.
- 57. Ibid.
- 58. Ibid.



- 59. "United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change," the United Nations, 1992, unfccc.int/resource/docs/convkp/conveng.pdf.
- 60. "Kyoto Protocol to the United Nations Framework Convention On Climate Change," the United Nations, 1998, https://unfccc.int/resource/docs/convkp/kpeng.pdf.
- 61. "A Resolution Expressing the Sense of the Senate Regarding the Conditions for the United States Becoming a Signatory to Any International Agreement on Greenhouse Gas Emissions under the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change," S.Res. 98, 105th Congress (1997), www.congress.gov/bill/105th-congress/senate-resolution/98/text.
- 62. Todd Stern, US special envoy for climate change, to Yvo de Boer, executive secretary, United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, Jan. 20, 2010, unfccc.int/files/ meetings/cop\_15/copenhagen\_accord/application/pdf/unitedstatescphaccord\_app.1.pdf.
- 63. "Copenhagen Accord," the United Nations Framework Convention on Climate Change, unfccc.int/meetings/copenhagen\_dec\_2009/items/5262.php.
- 64. "CAIT Climate Data Explorer, Paris Contribution Map," World Resources Institute, cait.wri.org/indc/#/.
- 65. "The United States' Nationally Determined Contribution," US Department of State, www4. unfccc.int/Submissions/INDC/Published%20Documents/United%20States%20of%20America/ 1/U.S.%20Cover%20Note%20INDC%20and%20Accompanying%20Information.pdf.
- 66. "Paris Agreement," the United Nations, 2015, unfccc.int/files/meetings/paris\_nov\_2015/ application/pdf/paris\_agreement\_english\_.pdf.
- 67. "Today in Energy: U.S. Energy-Related CO<sub>2</sub> Emissions Fell 1.7% In 2016," Department of Energy, Energy Information Administration, Apr. 10, 2017, www.eia.gov/todayinenergy/detail.php?id=30712.
- 68. "Inventory of U.S. Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Sinks: Overview of Greenhouse Gases and Sources of Emissions," Environmental Protection Agency, www.epa.gov/ghgemissions/ inventory-us-greenhouse-gas-emissions-and-sinks.
- 69. "Electricity Data Browser," Department of Energy, Energy Information Administration, www.eia.gov/electricity/data/browser/#/topic/5?agg=2,0,1&geo=g&freq=M&start= 200101&end=201707&ctype=linechart&ltype=pin&rtype=s&maptype=0&rse=0&pin=.
- 70. "Today in Energy: Total Electricity Sales Fell in 2015 for 5th Time in Past 8 Years," Department of Energy, Energy Information Administration, Mar. 14, 2016, www.eia.gov/todayinenergy/detail.php?id=25352.
- 71. "Today in Energy: New-Vehicle Fuel Economy Continues to Increase," Department of Energy, Energy Information Administration, Oct. 10, 2013, www.eia.gov/todayinenergy/ detail.php?id=13351.
- 72. "U.S. Energy-Related CO<sub>2</sub> Emissions," Department of Energy, www.eia.gov/todayinenergy/ detail.php?id=30712.



- 73. Trevor Houser, Jason Bordoff, and Peter Marsters, "Can Coal Make a Comeback?" Apr. 2017, 5, energypolicy.columbia.edu/sites/default/files/Center%20on%20Global%20 Energy%20Policy%20Can%20Coal%20Make%20a%20Comeback%20April%202017.pdf.
- 74. Ibid.
- 75. "Today in Energy: U.S. Wind Generating Capacity Surpasses Hydro Capacity at the End of 2016," Department of Energy, Energy Information Administration, Mar. 6, 2017, www.eia.gov/todayinenergy/detail.php?id=30212#.
- 76. "Utility-Scale Solar Has Grown Rapidly over the Past Five Years," Department of Energy, Energy Information Administration, May 4, 2017, www.eia.gov/todayinenergy/ detail.php?id=31072.
- 77. Dan Utech, "Three Years of Action under the Climate Action Plan," the White House, June 29, 2016, obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/blog/2016/06/28/third-anniversaryclimate-action-plan.
- 78. "Ozone Layer Protection: Recent International Developments under the Montreal Protocol," Environmental Protection Agency, www.epa.gov/ozone-layer-protection/ recent-international-developments-under-montreal-protocol.
- 79. "Regulations for Emissions from Vehicles and Engines: Midterm Evaluation of Light-Duty Vehicle Greenhouse Gas Emissions Standards for Model Years 2022-2025," Environmental Protection Agency, www.epa.gov/regulations-emissions-vehiclesand-engines/midterm-evaluation-light-duty-vehicle-greenhouse-gas.
- 80. John Larsen et al., "Trump's Regulatory Rollback Begins," the Rhodium Group, Mar. 27, 2017, rhg.com/notes/trumps-regulatory-rollback-begins.
- 81. Promoting Energy Independence and Economic Growth, Exec. Order No. 13783, 82 Fed. Reg. 16,093 (Mar. 31, 2017), www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/FR-2017-03-31/pdf/2017-06576.pdf.
- 82. Kate Larsen et al., "Taking Stock 2017: Adjusting Expectations for US GHG Emissions," the Rhodium Group, May 24, 2017, rhg.com/reports/taking-stock-2017-adjustingexpectations-for-us-ghg-emissions.
- 83. Kevin Kennedy, Michael Obeiter, and Noah Kaufman, "Putting a Price on Carbon: A Handbook for U.S. Policymakers," World Resources Institute, at 4 (Apr. 2015), pdfs. semanticscholar.org/6661/33fb0480bbe0b8738520c3a2a59beb882c45.pdf.
- 84. "The Politics of a Carbon Tax: Lessons from France," the Breakthrough Institute, Mar. 27, 2010, thebreakthrough.org/archive/the-politics-of-a-carbon-tax-lessons-from-france.
- 85. See, e.g., "American Opportunity Carbon Fee Act of 2017," www.congress.gov/115/bills/ s1639/BILLS-115s1639is.xml; "California's Cap-and-Trade Program: Fuel Facts," California Air Resources Board, https://www.arb.ca.gov/cc/capandtrade/guidance/facts\_fuels\_ under\_the\_cap.pdf.



- 86. "Framework for Assessing Biogenic CO<sub>2</sub> Emissions from Stationary Sources," Environmental Protection Agency, Nov. 2015, 19january2017snapshot.epa.gov/sites/ production/files/2016-08/documents/framework-for-assessing-biogenicco2-emissions.pdf.
- 87. "Inventory of Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Sinks, 2005–2015," Environmental Protection Agency, Apr. 2017, table 2-2, 2-6, www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/ 2017-02/documents/2017\_complete\_report.pdf.
- 88. "EPA Science Inventory, Framework for Assessing Biogenic CO<sub>2</sub> Emissions from Stationary Sources," Environmental Protection Agency, cfpub.epa.gov/si/si\_public\_record\_report.cfm?dirEntryID=308343.
- 89. See, e.g., "California's Cap-and-Trade Program: Fuel Facts," California Air Resources Board, www.arb.ca.gov/cc/capandtrade/guidance/facts\_fuels\_under\_ the\_cap.pdf; "Motor Fuel Tax and Carbon Tax," Province of British Columbia, www2.gov.bc.ca/gov/content/taxes/sales-taxes/motor-fuel-carbon-tax.
- 90. "Program Overview," Regional Greenhouse Gas Initiative, rggi.org/design/overview.
- 91. "The EU Emissions Trading System (EU ETS)," the European Commission, ec.europa.eu/clima/policies/ets\_en.
- 92. "Inventory of Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Sinks, 2005–2015," Environmental Protection Agency, Apr. 2017, 2-23, www.epa.gov/sites/production/files/ 2017-02/documents/2017\_complete\_report.pdf.
- 93. "Motor Fuel Tax & Carbon Tax," Province of British Columbia, www2. gov.bc.ca/gov/content/taxes/sales-taxes/motor-fuel-carbon-tax.
- 94. "Regulation for the California Cap on Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Market-Based Compliance Mechanisms," 17 CCR § 95810-11, oal. ca.gov/publications/ccr/; "The EU Emissions Trading System (EU ETS)," European Commission, ec.europa.eu/clima/policies/ets\_en.
- 95. Kennedy, Obeiter, and Kaufman, "Putting a Price on Carbon," 18, pdfs. semanticscholar.org/6661/33fb0480bbe0b8738520c3a2a59beb882c45.pdf.
- 96. Keith Paustian et al., "Agriculture's Role in Greenhouse Gas Mitigation," Pew Center on Global Climate Change, Sept. 2006, www.fao.org/fileadmin/user\_upload/ rome2007/docs/Agriculture\_Role\_in\_Greenhouse\_Gas\_Mitigation.pdf.
- 97. "Inventory," Environmental Protection Agency, 5-2, www.epa.gov/ghgemissions/ inventory-us-greenhouse-gas-emissions-and-sinks-1990-2015.
- 98. Kennedy, Obeiter, and Kaufman, "Putting a Price on Carbon," 19, pdfs.semanticscholar.org/ 6661/33fb0480bbe0b8738520c3a2a59beb882c45.pdf.
- 99. "Chapter 8: Anthropogenic and Natural Radiative Forcing," in IPCC Fifth Assessment Report, Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, 2015, www.ipcc.ch/pdf/assessmentreport/ar5/wg1/WG1AR5\_Chapter08\_FINAL.pdf.



- 100. "Greenhouse Gas Emissions: Understanding Global Warming Potentials," Environmental Protection Agency, http://www.epa.gov/ghgemissions/understanding-globalwarming-potentials.
- 101. R. K. Pachauri and L. A. Meyer, "Climate Change 2014: Synthesis Report," Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change, 2014, 87–88, www.ipcc.ch/report/ar5/syr/.
- 102. "Inventory of Greenhouse Gasses and Sinks, 1990–2015," Environmental Protection Agency, ES-18, table ES-4, www.epa.gov/ghgemissions/inventory-us-greenhouse-gas-emissions-and-sinks-1990-2015.
- 103. David Rosenbaum, "Clinton Back Off Plan for New Tax on Heat in Fuels," *The New York Times* (June 9, 1993), www.nytimes.com/1993/06/09/us/clinton-backs-off-plan-for-new-tax-on-heat-in-fuels.html.
- 104. "Monthly Energy Review," Energy Information Administration, Nov. 2017, tables 1.3 and 1.11b, www.eia.gov/totalenergy/data/annual/showtext.php?t=ptb0115.
- 105. See, e.g., "Greenhouse Gas Emissions," International Maritime Organization, www.imo. org/en/OurWork/environment/pollutionprevention/airpollution/pages/ghg-emissions. aspx; "Carbon Offsetting and Reduction Scheme for International Aviation (CORSIA)," International Civil Aviation Organization, www.icao.int/environmental-protection/ Pages/market-based-measures.aspx.
- 106. "Petroleum and Other Liquids: U.S. Exports of Crude Oil," Energy Information Administration, www.eia.gov/dnav/pet/hist/LeafHandler.ashx?n=PET&s=MCREXUS2&f=M.
- 107. "IEA Sees Global Gas Demand Rising to 2022 as US Drives Market Transformation," International Energy Agency, July 13, 2017, www.iea.org/newsroom/news/2017/july/ iea-sees-global-gas-demand-rising-to-2022-as-us-drives-market-transformation.html.
- 108. "Annual Energy Outlook, 2017," Energy Information Administration, 17, www.eia.gov/ outlooks/aeo/pdf/0383(2017).pdf.
- 109. Kennedy, Obeiter, and Kaufman, "Putting a Price on Carbon," 20, pdfs.semanticscholar.org/ 6661/33fb0480bbe0b8738520c3a2a59beb882c45.pdf.
- 110. Erin T. Mansur, "Upstream versus Downstream Implementation of Climate Policy," NBER draft paper, 2010, 14, www.dartmouth.edu/~mansur/papers/mansur\_updown.pdf.
- 111. John Horowitz et al., "Methodology for Analyzing a Carbon Tax," Department of Treasury, Office of Tax Analysis, Jan. 2017, 3–7, www.treasury.gov/resource-center/tax-policy/ tax-analysis/Documents/WP-115.pdf.
- 112. Examples from the 115th Congress include S. 1639, the American Opportunity Carbon Fee Act, www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/senate-bill/1639, and its companion proposal H.R. 3420, www.congress.gov/bill/115th-congress/house-bill/3420.
- 113. See "The EU Emissions Trading System (EU ETS)," European Commission, ec.europa. eu/clima/policies/ets\_en; "Overview of ARB Emissions Trading Program," California Air Resources Board, www.arb.ca.gov/cc/capandtrade/guidance/cap\_trade\_overview.pdf.



- 114. "Annual Coal Report, 2106," Energy Information Administration, 2-4, table 1, www.eia.gov/coal/annual/pdf/acr.pdf.
- 115. "Number of Producing Gas Wells," Energy Information Administration, www.eia.gov/ dnav/ng/ng\_prod\_wells\_s1\_a.htm; "Annual Energy Review 2012," Energy Information Administration, 123, table 5.2, www.eia.gov/totalenergy/data/annual/ showtext.php?t=ptb0502.
- 116. Judy Zelio and Lisa Houlihan, "State Energy Revenues Update," National Conference of State Legislatures, www.ncsl.org/research/fiscal-policy/state-energy-revenues-update.aspx.
- 117. "Natural Gas Annual Respondent Query System," Energy Information Administration, www.eia.gov/cfapps/ngqs/ngqs.cfm?f\_report=RP9&f\_sortby=&f\_items=&f\_year\_ start=&f\_year\_end=&f\_show\_compid=&f\_fullscreen; "Number and Capacity of Petroleum Refineries," Energy Information Administration, www.eia.gov/dnav/ pet/pet\_pnp\_cap1\_dcu\_nus\_a.htm.
- 118. Gilbert E. Metcalf, "Implementing a Carbon Tax," Resources for the Future, May 2017, 17–18, www.rff.org/research/publications/implementing-carbon-tax.
- 119. Ibid., 22.
- 120. "California's Cap-and-Trade Program: Fuel Facts," California Air Resources Board, https://www.arb.ca.gov/cc/capandtrade/guidance/facts\_fuels\_under\_the\_cap.pdf.
- 121. J. Calder, "Implementing a US Carbon Tax: Challenges and Debates," in Parry, Morris, and Williams (2015).
- 122. For additional discussion on this issue, see John Horowitz et al., "Methodology for Analyzing a Carbon Tax," Department of Treasury, Office of Tax Analysis, Jan. 2017, 3–7, www.treasury.gov/resource-center/tax-policy/tax-analysis/Documents/WP-115.pdf.
- 123. "The Pass-Through of Oil Prices to Gasoline Prices," Federal Reserve Bank of Cleveland, Feb. 6, 2008, www.clevelandfed.org/en/newsroom-and-events/publications/economictrends/economic-trends-archives/2008-economic-trends/et-20080206-the-passthrough-of-oil-prices-to-gasoline-prices.aspx.
- 124. "Effects of Gasoline Prices on Driving Behavior and Vehicle Markets," Congressional Budget Office, Jan. 2008, xi, www.cbo.gov/sites/default/files/110th-congress-2007-2008/reports/01-14-gasolineprices.pdf.
- 125. "Monthly Energy Review: Diagrams," Department of Energy, Energy Information Administration, Oct. 2017, www.eia.gov/totalenergy/data/monthly/pdf/flow/ total\_energy.pdf.
- 126. "Inventory," Environmental Protection Agency, www.epa.gov/ghgemissions/inventoryus-greenhouse-gas-emissions-and-sinks.
- 127. "Federal Excise Tax Rates, 1944–2008, Selected Years," the Tax Foundation, files.taxfoundation.org/legacy/docs/fed\_excisetaxrates-20081109.pdf.



- 128. John Horowitz et al., "Methodology for Analyzing a Carbon Tax," Department of Treasury, Office of Tax Analysis, Jan. 2017, www.treasury.gov/resourcecenter/tax-policy/tax-analysis/Documents/WP-115.pdf.
- 129. Zelio and Houlihan, "State Energy Revenues Update," www.ncsl.org/research/fiscalpolicy/state-energy-revenues-update.aspx.
- 130. Greenhouse Gas Reporting Program, GHGRP Reported Data," Environmental Protection Agency, www.epa.gov/ghgreporting.
- 131. "Greenhouse Gas Reporting Program, GHGRP Reported Data, Greenhouse Gas Reporting Program Background," Environmental Protection Agency, www.epa.gov/ghgreporting.
- 132. "Importing into the United States: A Guide for Commercial Importers," Customs and Border Protection, 2006, www.cbp.gov/sites/default/files/documents/Importing%20 into%20the%20U.S.pdf; "Electronic Export Information," Customs and Border Protection, www.cbp.gov/trade/basic-import-export/export-docs/electronic-export.
- 133. "Survey Forms," Energy Information Administration, www.eia.gov/survey/.
- 134. See, e.g., "Mandatory GHG Reporting—Verification," California Air Resources Board, www.arb.ca.gov/cc/reporting/ghg-ver/ghg-ver.htm.
- 135. "Climate Policy Memo #1: Cap and Trade v. Taxes," Pew Center on Global Climate Change, March 2009, https://www.c2es.org/site/assets/uploads/2009/03/climate-policy-memo-1-cap-and-trade-vs-taxes.pdf.
- 136. Brian Murray, William A. Pizer, and Christina Reichert, "Increasing Emissions Certainty under a Carbon Tax," Nicholas Institute for Environmental Policy Solutions, Oct. 2016, nicholasinstitute.duke.edu/sites/default/files/publications/ni\_pb\_16-03.pdf.
- 137. "Technical Support Document: Technical Update of the Social Cost of Carbon for Regulatory Impact Analysis under Executive Order 12866," Interagency Working Group on Social Cost of Greenhouse Gases, US Government, Aug. 2016, www.epa. gov/sites/production/files/2016-12/documents/sc\_co2\_tsd\_august\_2016.pdf.
- 138. "Valuing Climate Damages: Updating Estimation of the Social Cost of Carbon Dioxide," National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine, 2017, doi.org/10.17226/24651.
- 139. See. e.g., Ibid. at 2-3, 17-27, 90-95, 110-123.
- 140. "Report Recommends New Framework for Estimating the Social Cost of Carbon," National Academies of Sciences, Engineering, and Medicine, Jan. 11, 20178, www8.nationalacademies.org/onpinews/newsitem.aspx?RecordID=24651.
- Promoting Energy Independence and Economic Growth, Exec. Order No. 13783 Sec. 5(b), 82 Fed. Reg. 16093 (Mar, 28, 2017), www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/ FR-2017-03-31/pdf/2017-06576.pdf.
- 142. Jason Bordoff, "Trump vs. Obama on the Social Cost of Carbon—and Why It Matters," Wall Street Journal (Nov. 15, 2017), blogs.wsj.com/experts/2017/11/15/ trump-vs-obama-on-the-social-cost-of-carbon-and-why-it-matters/.



- 143. "Monthly Energy Review" Energy Information Administration, www.eia.gov/totalenergy/data/monthly/.
- 144. "Paris Agreement," the United Nations, 2015, unfccc.int/files/meetings/paris\_ nov\_2015/application/pdf/paris\_agreement\_english\_.pdf.
- 145. Yunguang Chen and Marc A. C. Hafstead, "Using a Carbon Tax to Meet US International Climate Pledges," Resources for the Future, Nov. 2016, 9, www.rff.org/files/document/file/RFF-DP-16-48.pdf.
- 146. Peter Gross and Kelly Perl, "Steel Industry Energy Consumption, Technology Choice, Fuel Prices, and Carbon Prices in the AEO 20176 Industrial Demand Module," Energy Information Administration, July 7, 2017, www.eia.gov/outlooks/archive/aeo16/ section\_issues.cfm#steel\_industry.
- 147. It is also a core question explored by the Energy Modeling Forum's Intermodel Comparison of US Greenhouse Gas Reduction Policy Options (EMF 32), available at emf.stanford.edu/projects/emf-32-us-ghg-and-revenue-recycling-scenarios.
- 148. "The Role of the 25 Percent Revenue Offset in Estimating the Budgetary Effects of Legislation," Congressional Budget Office, Jan. 13, 2009, www.cbo.gov/sites/ default/files/cbofiles/ftpdocs/96xx/doc9618/01-13-25percentoffset.pdf.
- 149. "Options for Reducing the Deficit: 2017 to 2026," Congressional Budget Office, Dec. 2016, 211, www.cbo.gov/publication/51129; John Horowitz et al., "Methodology for Analyzing a Carbon Tax," Department of Treasury, Office of Tax Analysis, Jan. 2017, 3, www.treasury.gov/resource-center/tax-policy/tax-analysis/Documents/WP-115.pdf.
- 150. "Options for Reducing the Deficit," Congressional Budget Office, 211, www.cbo.gov/ sites/default/files/114th-congress-2015-2016/reports/52142-budgetoptions2.pdf.
- 151. Horowitz, et al., "Methodology," 10, www.treasury.gov/resource-center/tax-policy/ tax-analysis/Documents/WP-115.pdf.
- 152. Ibid., 13, table 3.
- 153. James A. Baker et al., "The Conservative Case for Carbon Dividends," the Climate Leadership Council, Feb. 2017, www.clcouncil.org/media/TheConservativeCaseforCarbonDividends.pdf.
- 154. See, e.g., ibid.
- 155. Donald Marron, Eric Toder, and Lydia Austin, "Taxing Carbon: What, Why, and How," Tax Policy Center, June 24, 2015, www.taxpolicycenter.org/publications/taxing-carbonwhat-why-and-how/full.
- 156. Parry, Morris, and Williams, Implementing a US Carbon Tax, 227.
- 157. See, e.g., Dale W. Jorgenson, "Efficient Taxation of Income," Harvard magazine (2003), harvardmagazine.com/2003/03/efficient-taxation-of-in.html.



- 158. D. B. Marron and E. J. Toder, "Tax Policy Issues in Designing a Carbon Tax," American Economic Review: Papers & Proceedings, 104, no. 5 (2014), 563–68, www.urban.org/sites/ default/files/publication/22596/413132-Tax-Policy-Issues-in-Designing-a-Carbon-Tax.PDF; A. Mathur and A. C. Morris, "Distributional Effects of a Carbon Tax in Broader U.S. Fiscal Reform," Brookings Institution, 2012, www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/2016/ 06/14-carbon-tax-fiscal-reform-morris.pdf; R. C. I. Williams et al., "The Initial Incidence of a Carbon Tax Across US States (No. 14–25)," Washington, DC, www.rff.org/RFF/ Documents/RFF-DP-14-25.pdf.
- 159. Parry, Morris, and Williams, Implementing a US Carbon Tax.
- 160. Ibid.
- 161. See, e.g., "Putting a Price on Carbon: An Emissions Cap or a Tax," Yale Environment 360 (May 9, 2009), e360.yale.edu/features/putting\_a\_price\_on\_carbon\_an\_emissions\_ cap\_or\_a\_tax; Alex Bowen, "Carbon Pricing: How Best to Use the Revenue," Grantham Research Institute on Climate Change and the Environment, Nov. 2015, www.lse.ac.uk/ GranthamInstitute/wp-content/uploads/2015/11/Bowen-policy-brief-2015.pdf.
- 162. See, e.g., B. H. Hall and J. Lerner, "The Financing of R&D and Innovation," in Handbook of the Economics of Innovation, vol. 1, eds. B. H. Hall and N. Rosenberg, (New York: Elsevier, 2010). www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0169721810010142.
- 163. Cathleen Kelly and Kristina Costa, "5 Ways Congress Can Help to Rebuild Stronger and Safer Communities after Harvey," Center for American Progress, Sept. 7, 2017, www.americanprogress.org/issues/green/news/2017/09/07/438537/5ways-congress-can-help-rebuild-stronger-safer-communities-harvey/.
- 164. Carolyn Fischer and Alan K. Fox, "Comparing Policies to Combat Emissions Leakage," Resources for the Future, Mar. 2011, 2, www.rff.org/files/sharepoint/WorkImages/ Download/RFF-DP-09-02-REV.pdf.
- 165. "SB-535 California Global Warming Solutions Act of 2006: Greenhouse Gas Reduction Fund," California Legislation, Leginfo.Legislature.Ca.Gov/Faces/Billnavclient.Xhtml?Bill\_ Id=201120120SB535; Vien Truong, "Addressing Poverty and Pollution: California's SB 535 Greenhouse Gas Reduction Fund," Harvard Civil Rights—Civil Liberties Law Review 493 (2014), 49, harvardcrcl.org/wp-content/uploads/2011/09/493\_Truong.pdf.
- 166. Chelsea Harvey, "The Battle over Washington State's Proposed Carbon Tax Has Gotten Even Weirder," Washington Post (Nov. 7, 2016), www.washingtonpost. com/news/energy-environment/wp/2016/11/07/the-bizarre-political-fight-overwashington-states-ballot-measure-to-tax-carbon/?utm\_term=.148f680bf94b.
- 167. "The Budget and Economic Outlook: 2016 to 2026," Congressional Budget Office, Jan. 2016, 2, www.cbo.gov/publication/51129.
- 168. "The Budget and Economic Outlook: 2017 to 2027," Congressional Budget Office, Jan. 2017, 2, www.cbo.gov/publication/52370.



- 169. "The Debt to the Penny and Who Holds It," Department of the Treasury, treasurydirect.gov/NP/debt/current.
- 170. "The Role of the 25 Percent Revenue Offset," Congressional Budget Office, 7, www.cbo. gov/sites/default/files/cbofiles/ftpdocs/96xx/doc9618/01-13-25percentoffset.pdf.
- 171. Ibid.
- 172. See "President Obama's Climate Action Plan: 2nd Anniversary Progress Report," the White House, June 2015, obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/sites/default/files/ docs/cap\_progress\_report\_final\_w\_cover.pdf.
- 173. See "Energy Incentive Programs," Department of Energy, Federal Energy Management Program, energy.gov/eere/femp/energy-incentive-programs.
- 174. Timothy J. Brennan, "Behavioral Economics and Energy Efficiency Regulation," ACCC, Network 59 (2016), www.accc.gov.au/system/files/Network%20%20June%202016.pdf.
- 175. Jason Bordoff, "America's Energy Policy—from Independence to Interdependence," Center for International Relations and Sustainable Development, www.cirsd.org/en/ horizons/horizons-autumn-2016--issue-no-8/americas-energy-policy-fromindependence-to-interdependence.
- 176. John Schwartz, "Exxon Mobil Lends Its Support to a Carbon Tax Proposal," the New York Times (June 20, 2017), www.nytimes.com/2017/06/20/science/exxon-carbon-tax. html; "Exxon, BP and Shell Back Carbon Tax Proposal to Curb Emissions," the Guardian, www.theguardian.com/environment/2017/jun/20/exxon-bp-shell-oil-climate-change.
- 177. Standards of Performance for Coal Preparation and Processing Plants; Final Rule, 74 Fed. Reg. 51950 (Oct. 8, 2009), www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/FR-2009-10-08/pdf/E9-23783.pdf.
- 178. Carbon Pollution Emission Guidelines for Existing Stationary Sources: Electric Utility Generating Units; Final Rule, 80 Fed. Reg. 64,661 (Oct. 23, 2015), www.gpo.gov/ fdsys/pkg/FR-2015-10-23/pdf/2015-22842.pdf.
- 179. Final Rule for Model Year 2017 and Later Light-Duty Vehicle Greenhouse Gas Emissions and Corporate Average Fuel Economy Standards, 77 Fed. Reg. 62623 (Oct. 15, 2012), www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/FR-2012-10-15/pdf/2012-21972.pdf.
- 180. "Climate Change: Obama Unveils Clean Power Plan," BBC News (Aug. 3, 2015), www.bbc.com/news/world-us-canada-33753067.
- 181. "The Clean Power Plan," 129 Harvard Law Review 1152 (2016), harvardlawreview.org/ 2016/02/the-clean-power-plan/.
- 182. Joseph Aldy, "Long-Term Climate Policy: The Great Swap," Progressive Policy Institute, Nov. 2016, 7, 10, www.progressivepolicy.org/wp-content/uploads/2016/11/ The-Great-Swap-1.pdf.
- 183. Final Rule for Model Year 2017, 77 Fed. Reg. 62623 (Oct. 15, 2012), www.gpo.gov/ fdsys/pkg/FR-2012-10-15/pdf/2012-21972.pdf.



#### 184. Ibid.

- 185. "Appliance and Equipment Standards Program," Department of Energy, energy. gov/eere/buildings/appliance-and-equipment-standards-program.
- 186. Steven Nadel, "Who Invests in Energy Efficiency and Why?," American Council for an Energy-Efficient Economy, July 24, 2017, aceee.org/blog/2017/07/ who-invests-energy-efficiency-and-why.
- 187. See, e.g., Integration of Variable Energy Resources, Order No. 764, 77 Fed. Reg. 41482 (July 13, 2012), www.gpo.gov/fdsys/pkg/FR-2012-07-13/pdf/2012-15762.pdf.
- 188. "Transmission Projects: At a Glance," executive summary, Edison Electric Institute, Dec. 2016, iii, vi, www.eei.org/issuesandpolicy/transmission/Documents/Trans\_Project\_ lowres\_bookmarked.pdf.
- 189. Abdullah Hasan, "Fact Sheet: Advancing Clean Energy Research and Development in the President's FY 2017 Budget," Obama White House Archives, October 13, 2016, available at obamawhitehouse.archives.gov/blog/2016/10/12/factsheetadvancing-clean-energy-research-and-development-presidents-fy-2017-budget.
- Thomas Helbling, "Externalities: Prices Do Not Capture All Costs," International Monetary Fund, www.imf.org/external/pubs/ft/fandd/basics/external.htm; Molly F. Sherlock Jeffrey M. Stupak, "Energy Tax Policy: Issues in the 114th Congress," Congressional Research Service, 5 (June 15, 2016), fas.org/sgp/crs/misc/R43206.pdf
- 191. Charles Jones and John Williams, "Too Much of a Good Thing? The Economics of Investment in R&D," National Bureau of Economic Research (working paper 7283, Aug. 1999), www.nber.org/papers/w7283.pdf.
- 192. 26 U.S.C. § 45(a)(2)(A)(ii).
- 193. American Wind Energy Association, "Wind Energy Facts at a Glance," available at www.awea.org/wind-energy-facts-at-a-glance.
- 194. "Production Tax Credit," American Wind Energy Association, www.awea.org/ production-tax-credit.
- 195. Diane Bailey, "U.S. Approves Five-Year PTC Phase Out," Wind Power Monthly, Dec. 18, 2015, www.windpowermonthly.com/article/1377405/us-approves-five-year-ptc-phase.
- 196. 26 U.S.C. § 45(b)(5), www.law.cornell.edu/uscode/text/26/45.
- 197. 26 U.S.C. § 48(a)(2), www.law.cornell.edu/uscode/text/26/48.
- 198. 26 U.S.C. § 48(a)(6), www.law.cornell.edu/uscode/text/26/48.
- 199. 26 U.S.C. § 48(a)(5)(E), www.law.cornell.edu/uscode/text/26/48.
- 200. "Publication 946: How to Depreciate Property," Internal Revenue Service, Feb. 2017, 29–33, 109, www.irs.gov/pub/irs-pdf/p946.pdf.



- 201. "Residential Energy Efficiency Tax Credit," Department of Energy, energy.gov/savings/ residential-energy-efficiency-tax-credit.
- 202. Leah Stokes and Hanna Breetz, "Energy Politics in the U.S. Energy Transition: Case Studies of Solar, Wind, Biofuels and Electric Vehicles Policy," Energy Policy, 113: 78-79 (Feb., 2018) www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0301421517307322#!.
- 203. Diane Bailey, "Analysis: PTC Phase-Out Could Herald Lower Cost of Energy," Wind Power Monthly (Jan. 29, 2016), www.windpowermonthly.com/article/1380732/analysis-ptcphase-out-herald-lower-cost-energy.
- 204. "Natural Resource Revenues from U.S. Federal Lands," Department of the Interior, 18f.github.io/doi-extractives-data/.
- 205. "Gasoline Tax," American Petroleum Institute, www.api.org/oil-and-natural-gas/ consumer-information/motor-fuel-taxes/gasoline-tax.
- 206. Andrew Aulisi et al., "Climate Policy in the State Laboratory: How States Influence Federal Regulation and the Implications for Climate Change Policy in the United States," World Resources Institute, Aug. 2007, pdf.wri.org/climate\_policy\_in\_the\_state\_laboratory.pdf.
- 207. "The Investment of RGGI Proceeds in 2015," Regional Greenhouse Gas Initiative, Oct. 2017, 16–19, www.rggi.org/docs/ProceedsReport/RGGI\_Proceeds\_Report\_2015.pdf.
- 208. "States," Carbon Tax Center, www.carbontax.org/states/.
- 209. "Facts and Figures: How Does Your State Compare?" Tax Foundation, 2017, files. taxfoundation.org/20170710170127/TF-Facts-Figures-2017-7-10-2017.pdf; "Briefing Book: Some Background," Tax Policy Center, www.taxpolicycenter.org/briefing-book/ what-are-sources-revenue-federal-government.
- 210. Veronica Shade, "Extras on Excise: State Legislation Aimed at Pumping Fuel Taxes to Improve Transportation Infrastructure," Bloomberg BNA (Mar. 8, 2017), www.bna.com/extras-excise-state-b57982084936/.
- 211. "Program Overview," Regional Greenhouse Gas Initiative, www.rggi.org/design/ overview; 2006 Cal. Stat. 89 (codified as Cal. Health & Safety Code §§ 38500-99 [2010]), leginfo.legislature.ca.gov/faces/codes\_displayexpandedbranch. xhtml?tocCode=HSC&division=25.5.&title=&part=&chapter=&article=.
- 212. "The Investment of RGGI Proceeds," Regional Greenhouse Gas Initiative, 16–19, www.rggi.org/docs/ProceedsReport/RGGI\_Proceeds\_Report\_2015.pdf.
- 213. Mac Taylor, "Cap-and-Trade Revenues: Strategies to Promote Legislative Priorities," California Legislative Analyst's Office, Jan. 2016, 8, www.lao.ca.gov/reports/2016/ 3328/cap-trade-revenues-012116.pdf. .
- 214. See, e.g., Joseph E. Aldy and William A. Pizer, "The Competitiveness Impacts of Climate Change Mitigation Policy," National Bureau of Economic Research, Dec. 2011, www.nber.org/papers/w17705.



- 215. Trevor Houser et al., "Leveling the Carbon Playing Field, International Competition and US Climate Policy Design," Peterson Institute for International Economics and World Resources Institute, 2008, pdf.wri.org/leveling\_the\_carbon\_playing\_field.pdf.
- 216. American Clean Energy and Security Act of 2009, H.R. 2454, Sec. 764, www.congress. gov/111/bills/hr2454/BILLS-111hr2454pcs.pdf.
- Ibid., Secs. 782(e), 762-4; John Larsen, Alexia Kelly, and Robert Heilmauyr, "WRI Summary of H.R. 2454, the American Clean Energy and Security Act (Waxman-Markey)," World Resources Institute, 13, July 31, 2009, www.wri.org/sites/default/files/uploads/ wri\_summary\_of\_aces\_0731.pdf.
- 218. American Clean Energy and Security Act of 2009, H.R. 2454, Sec. 782(e), www.congress. gov/111/bills/hr2454/BILLS-111hr2454pcs.pdf.
- 219. "What Is the CA Industry Assistance Credit?" California Public Utilities Commission, www.cpuc.ca.gov/industryassistance/.
- 220. Parry, Morris, and Williams, Implementing a US Carbon Tax, 174.
- 221. American Clean Energy and Security Act of 2009, H.R. 2454, Sec. 743, www.congress. gov/111/bills/hr2454/BILLS-111hr2454pcs.pdf.
- 222. Ibid., Sec. 763.
- 223. Jason Bordoff, "International Trade Law and the Economics of Climate Policy: Evaluating the Legality and Effectiveness of Proposals to Address Competitiveness and Leakage Concerns," Brookings Institution, www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/ 2012/04/2008\_bordoff.pdf.
- 224. Trevor Houser, "Ensuring US Competitiveness and International Participation," Testimony before the Committee on Energy and Commerce, US House of Representatives, Peterson Institute for International Economics, Apr. 23, 2009, citeseerx.ist.psu.edu/viewdoc/download?doi=10.1.1.175.12&rep=rep1&type=pdf.
- 225. G. C. Hufbauer and J. Kim, "The World Trade Organization and Climate Change: Challenges and Options," Peterson Institute for International Economics, Sept. 2009, piie.com/ sites/default/files/publications/wp/wp09-9.pdf.
- 226. "Understanding the WTO: Basics, Trade without Discrimination," World Trade Organization, www.wto.org/english/thewto\_e/whatis\_e/tif\_e/fact2\_e.htm.
- 227. "WTO Rules and Environmental Policies: GATT Exceptions," World Trade Organization, www.wto.org/english/tratop\_e/envir\_e/envt\_rules\_exceptions\_e.htm.
- 228. For more on this topic, see Parry, Morris, and Williams, Implementing a US Carbon Tax, chapters 6–7.
- 229. K. A. Hassett, A. Mathur, and G. E. Metcalf, "The Incidence of a U.S. Carbon Tax: A Lifetime and Regional Analysis" (NBER working paper W13554, Oct. 2007), www.nber.org/ papers/w13554; Marron and Toder, "Tax Policy Issues," 563–68, , www.urban.org/sites/ default/files/publication/22596/413132-Tax-Policy-Issues-in-Designing-a-Carbon-Tax.PDF.



- 230. Mathur and Morris, "Distributional Effects," www.brookings.edu/wp-content/uploads/ 2016/06/14-carbon-tax-fiscal-reform-morris.pdf.
- 231. Marron and Toder, "Tax Policy Issues," 563–68, www.urban.org/sites/default/files/ publication/22596/413132-Tax-Policy-Issues-in-Designing-a-Carbon-Tax.PDF; Williams et al., "The Initial Incidence," www.rff.org/RFF/Documents/RFF-DP-14-25.pdf.
- 232. S. Rausch et al., "Distributional Implications of Alternative U.S. Greenhouse Gas Control Measures" (NBER working paper, series no. 16053, June 2010) www.nber.org/papers/ w16053; Williams et al., "The Initial Incidence," www.rff.org/RFF/Documents/ RFF-DP-14-25.pdf.
- 233. Noah Kaufman and Eleanor Krause. "Putting A Price On Carbon: Ensuring Equity," World Resources Institute, at 11 (Apr. 2016), www.wri.org/sites/default/files/Putting\_ a\_Price\_on\_Carbon\_Ensuring\_Equity.pdf.
- 234. T. Houser et al., Economic Risks of Climate Change, cup.columbia.edu/book/ economic-risks-of-climate-change/9780231174565.
- 235. Williams et al., "The Initial Incidence," 12-20.





